# 424 http://www.ablible.com

**Table of Contents** 

Filed Pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2 Registration No. 333-23481

#### CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of Each Class of Securities Offered	Maximum Aggregate Offering Price	Amount of Registration Fee(1)
3.050% Senior Notes due 2023	\$800,000,000	\$103,840.00

1) Calculated in accordance with Rule 457(r) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

## **Table of Contents**

Prospectus Supplement (To Prospectus dated November 21, 2019)



\$800,000,000 Ally Financial Inc. 3.050% Senior Notes due 2023

This is an offering of \$800,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 3.050% Senior Notes due 2023 (the "notes") of Ally Financial Inc. ("Ally" The notes will bear interest at a rate of 3.050% per year. Ally will pay interest on the notes semi-annually on June 5 and December 5, in cash in arrears, each year, beginning on December 5, 2020. The notes will mature on June 5, 2023.

The notes will be unsubordinated unsecured obligations of Ally and will rank equally in right of payment with all of Ally's existing and future unsubordinated unsecured indebtedness and senior in right of payment to all existing and future indebtedness that by its terms is expressly subordinated the notes. The notes will be effectively subordinated to all existing and future secured indebtedness of Ally to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness and structurally subordinated to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of subsidiaries ally, to the extent of the value of the assets of those subsidiaries.

Ally may, at its option, redeem, in whole or in part, the notes at any time on or after November 30, 2020 (180 days from June 3, 2020) (or, additional notes are issued thereafter, beginning 180 days after such additional issuance), at the applicable redemption price described herein und "Description of Notes—Optional Redemption."

The notes will be issued in denominations of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof. The notes will not be listed on an exchange, listing authority or quotation system. Currently, there is no public market for the notes.

Investing in the notes involves risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page S-9 to read about risks you should consider before buying the notes.

	Per Note	Total
Price to public(1)	99.299%	\$794,392,000
Underwriting discount	0.400%	\$ 3,200,000
Proceeds, before expenses, to Ally	98.899%	\$791,192,000

(1) Plus accrued interest, if any, from June 3, 2020.

The notes are not savings or deposit accounts of Ally or any of its subsidiaries and are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency or insurer.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is criminal offense.

The notes will be ready for delivery in book-entry form through The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and its participants, including

# Europitapa/www.actoleoleacoming, société anonyme, on or about June 3, 2020.

Joint Book-Running Managers

Barclays Citigroup Morgan Stanley RBC Capital Markets

Co-Managers

Lloyds Securities Raymond James Scotiabank US Bancorp
Academy Securities AmeriVet Securities Blaylock Van, LLC
Multi-Bank Securities, Inc. R. Seelaus & Co., LLC

June 1, 2020

#### **Table of Contents**

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### **Prospectus Supplement**

Page S-S-S--S-S-1 S-1 S-1 S-1 S-2 S-2 S-2 S-3S-3 S-3 S-3

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	
Industry and Market Data	
Summary	
Risk Factors	
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	
Capitalization	
Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data	
<u>Description of Notes</u>	
Book-Entry, Delivery and Form of Notes	
Certain Benefit Plan and IRA Considerations	
U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences	
Underwriting	
Incorporation By Reference; Where You Can Find More Information	
<u>Legal Matters</u>	
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	
Pro	ospectus

About This Prospectus
Information Incorporated by Reference; Where You Can Find More Information
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
<u>Summary</u>
Risk Factors
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>
Description of Senior Notes
<u>Description of Subordinated Notes</u>
Description of Preferred Stock
Book-Entry, Delivery and Form of Notes
<u>Plan of Distribution</u>
<u>Validity of Securities</u>
<u>Experts</u>

We provide information to you about this offering in two separate documents. The accompanying prospectus provides general information about us and the securities we may offer from time to time. This prospectus supplement describes the specific details regarding the offering. Additional information is incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement. If information in this prospectus supplement inconsistent with the accompanying prospectus, you should rely on this prospectus supplement.

Neither we nor the underwriters have authorized anyone to provide any information other than that contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus or any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred you. We and the underwriters take no responsibility for, and can provide no assurance as to the reliability of, any other information that others may give you. We are not, and the underwriters are not, making an offer of these notes in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted. You should not assume that the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus or in any such free writing prospectus is accurate as of any date other than their respective dates.

#### **Table of Contents**

The distribution of this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus or any free writing prospectus and the offering of the notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus any free writing prospectus comes should inform themselves about and observe such restrictions. This prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus or any free writing prospectus does not constitute, and may not be used in connection with, an offer or solicitation by anyone in an jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so of to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation.

References in this prospectus supplement to "the Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Ally Financial Inc. and its direct are indirect subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, and the term "Ally" refers only to All Financial Inc.

S-ii

#### **Table of Contents**

#### CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

From time to time we have made, and in the future will make, forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securitic Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. Forward-looking statements often use words such as "believe," "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "pursue," "seek," "continue," "estimate," "project," "outlook," "forecast "potential," "target," "objective," "trend," "plan," "goal," "initiative," "priorities," or other words of comparable meaning or future-tense or condition verbs such as "may," "will," "should," "would," or "could." Forward-looking statements convey our expectations, intentions, or forecasts about future events, circumstances, or results.

This prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus contain or incorporate by reference documents containing various forward looking statements. We also may make forward-looking statements in other documents that are filed or furnished with the SEC. In addition, we may make forward-looking statements orally or in writing to investors, analysts, members of the media, or others.

All forward-looking statements, by their nature, are subject to assumptions, risks, and uncertainties, which may change over time and many which are beyond our control. You should not rely on any forward-looking statement as a prediction or guarantee about the future. Actual future objective strategies, plans, prospects, performance, conditions, or results may differ materially from those set forth in any forward-looking statement. While no list assumptions, risks, or uncertainties could be complete, some of the factors that may cause actual results or other future events or circumstances to diff from those in forward-looking statements include:

- evolving local, regional, national, or international business, economic, or political conditions;
- changes in laws or the regulatory or supervisory environment, including as a result of recent financial services legislation, regulation, or policies or changes in government officials or other personnel;
- changes in monetary, fiscal, or trade laws or policies, including as a result of actions by government agencies, central banks, supranational authorities;
- changes in accounting standards or policies, including Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Creat Losses (CECL);
- changes in the automotive industry or the markets for new or used vehicles, including the rise of vehicle sharing and ride hailing, the
  development of autonomous and alternative-energy vehicles, and the impact of demographic shifts on attitudes and behaviors towar
  vehicle ownership and use;
- disruptions or shifts in investor sentiment or behavior in the securities, capital, or other financial markets, including financial or system shocks and volatility or changes in market liquidity, interest or currency rates, or valuations;
- uncertainty about the future of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and any negative impacts that could result;
- changes in business or consumer sentiment, preferences, or behavior, including spending, borrowing, or saving by businesses abouseholds.
- changes in our corporate or business strategies, the composition of our assets, or the way in which we fund those assets;
- our ability to execute our business strategy for Ally Bank, including its digital focus;
- our ability to optimize our automotive finance and insurance businesses and to continue diversifying into and growing other consume and commercial business lines, including mortgage lending, personal lending, corporate finance, brokerage, and wealth management;

#### **Table of Contents**

- our ability to develop capital plans that will be approved by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (FRB) and our ability to implement them, including any payment of dividends or share repurchases;
- our ability to effectively manage capital or liquidity consistent with evolving business or operational needs, risk-management standard and regulatory or supervisory requirements;
- our ability to cost-effectively fund our business and operations, including through deposits and the capital markets;
- changes in any credit rating assigned to Ally, including Ally Bank;
- adverse publicity or other reputational harm to us or our senior officers;
- our ability to develop, maintain, or market our products or services or to absorb unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with thosproducts or services;
- our ability to innovate, to anticipate the needs of current or future customers, to successfully compete, to increase or hold market sha in changing competitive environments, or to deal with pricing or other competitive pressures;
- the continuing profitability and viability of our dealer-centric automotive finance and insurance businesses, especially in the face competition from captive finance companies and their automotive manufacturing sponsors and challenges to the dealer's role intermediary between manufacturers and purchasers;
- our ability to appropriately underwrite loans that we originate or purchase and to otherwise manage credit risk;
- changes in the credit, liquidity, or other financial condition of our customers, counterparties, service providers, or competitors;
- our ability to effectively deal with economic, business, or market slowdowns or disruptions;
- judicial, regulatory, or administrative investigations, proceedings, disputes, or rulings that create uncertainty for, or are adverse to, us the financial services industry;
- our ability to address stricter or heightened regulatory or supervisory requirements and expectations;
- the performance and availability of third-party service providers on whom we rely in delivering products and services to our custome and otherwise conducting our business and operations;
- our ability to maintain secure and functional financial, accounting, technology, data processing, or other operating systems infrastructure, including our capacity to withstand cyberattacks;
- the adequacy of our corporate governance, risk-management framework, compliance programs, or internal controls over financial reporting, including our ability to control lapses or deficiencies in financial reporting or to effectively mitigate or manage operation risk;
- the efficacy of our methods or models in assessing business strategies or opportunities or in valuing, measuring, estimating, monitoring or managing positions or risk;
- our ability to keep pace with changes in technology that affect us or our customers, counterparties, service providers, or competitors;
- our ability to successfully make and integrate acquisitions, including our planned acquisition of Cardholder Management Services, In
  and its subsidiaries, including CardWorks, Inc. and Merrick Bank Corporation;
- the adequacy of our succession planning for key executives or other personnel and our ability to attract or retain qualified employees;

S-2

#### **Table of Contents**

- natural or man-made disasters, calamities, or conflicts, including terrorist events and pandemics (such as adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on us and our customers, counterparties, employees, and third-party service providers); or
- other assumptions, risks, or uncertainties described in any of the Company's annual, quarterly or current reports.

Any forward-looking statement made by us or on our behalf speaks only as of the date that it was made. We do not undertake to update ar forward-looking statement to reflect the impact of events, circumstances, or results that arise after the date that the statement was made, except as require by applicable securities laws. You, however, should consult further disclosures (including disclosures of a forward-looking nature) that we may make any subsequent Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or Current Report on Form 8-K.

Unless the context otherwise requires, the following definitions apply. The term "loans" means the following consumer and commerci products associated with our direct and indirect financing activities: loans, retail installment sales contracts, lines of credit, and other financing product excluding operating leases. The term "operating leases" means consumer- and commercial-vehicle lease agreements where Ally is the lessor and where the lessee is generally not obligated to acquire ownership of the vehicle at lease-end or compensate Ally for the vehicle's residual value. The terms "lend "finance," and "originate" mean our direct extension or origination of loans, our purchase or acquisition of loans, or our purchase of operating leases applicable. The term "consumer" means all consumer products associated with our loan and operating-lease activities and all commercial retail installment sales contracts. The term "commercial" means all commercial products associated with our loan activities, other than commercial retail installment sale contracts.

#### INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA

We obtained the industry, market and competitive position data included in this prospectus supplement and in the documents incorporated to reference herein from our own internal estimates and research as well as from industry and general publications and research, surveys and studied conducted by third parties. Industry publications, studies and surveys generally state that they have been obtained from sources believed to be reliable although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

S-3

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **SUMMARY**

This summary highlights some of the information contained, or incorporated by reference, in this prospectus supplement. It does not contain all of the information that is important to you. You should read both this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus in their entirety, including the information incorporated by reference, to understand fully the terms of the notes, as well as the other considerations that are important to you in making your investment decision. You should pay special attention to the "Risk Factors" beginning on page S-9 and incorporated by reference herein as well as the section entitled "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" on page S-1.

#### Ally Financial Inc.

Ally Financial Inc. is a leading digital financial-services company with \$182.5 billion in assets as of March 31, 2020. As a customer-centric company with passionate customer service and innovative financial solutions, we are relentlessly focused on "Doing It Right" and being a trusted financial-services provider to our consumer, commercial, and corporate customers. We are one of the largest full-service automotive-finance operations in the country and offer a wide range of financial services and insurance products to automotive dealerships and consumers. Our award-winning online bank (Ally Bank, Member FDIC and Equal Housing Lender) offers mortgage-lending, personal lending, and a variety of deposit and other banking products, including savings, money-market, and checking accounts, certificates of deposit (CDs), and individual retirement accounts (IRAs). Additionally, we offer securities-brokerage and investment-advisory services through Ally Invest. Our robust corporate finance business offers capital for equity sponsors and middle-market companies.

Our principal executive offices are located at Ally Detroit Center, 500 Woodward Ave., Floor 10, Detroit, Michigan 48226, and our telephone number is (866) 710-4623.

#### **Our Business**

Our primary business lines are Dealer Financial Services, which is composed of our Automotive Finance and Insurance operations, Mortgage Finance, and Corporate Finance. Corporate and Other primarily consists of centralized corporate treasury activities, the management of our legacy mortgage portfolio, the activity related to Ally Invest and Ally Lending (formerly known as Health Credit Services), and reclassifications and eliminations between the reportable operating segments.

Dealer Financial Services comprises our Automotive Finance and Insurance segments. Our primary customers are automotive dealers, which are independently owned businesses. A dealer may sell or lease a vehicle for cash but, more typically, enters into a retail installment sales contract or operating lease with the customer and then sells the retail installment sales contract or the operating lease and the leased vehicle, as applicable, to Ally or another automotive-finance provider. The purchase by Ally or another provider is commonly described as indirect automotive lending to the customer.

Our Dealer Financial Services business is one of the largest full-service automotive finance operations in the country and offers a wide range of financial services and insurance products to automotive dealerships and their customers. We have deep dealer relationships that have been built throughout our over 100-year history, and we are leveraging competitive strengths to expand our dealer footprint. Our dealer-centric business model encourages dealers to use our broad range of products through incentive programs like our Ally Dealer Rewards program, which rewards individual dealers based on the depth and breadth of our relationship. Our automotive finance services include purchasing retail installment sales contracts and operating leases from dealers, extending automotive loans directly to consumers, offering term loans to dealers, financing dealer floorplans and providing other lines of credit to dealers, supplying warehouse lines to automotive retailers, offering automotive-fleet

S-4

#### **Table of Contents**

financing, providing financing to companies and municipalities for the purchase or lease of vehicles, and supplying vehicle-remarketing services. We also offer retail vehicle service contracts (VSCs) and commercial insurance primarily covering dealers' vehicle inventories. We are a leading provider of VSCs, guaranteed asset protection (GAP), and vehicle maintenance contracts (VMCs).

Ally Bank, our direct banking platform, is focused on growing a stable deposit base and deepening relationships with our more than 2.0 million primary deposit customers by leveraging our compelling brand and strong value proposition. Ally Bank is a direct bank with no branch network that obtains retail deposits directly from customers through internet, telephone, mobile, and mail channels. We have grown our deposits with a strong brand that is based on a promise of being straightforward with our customers and offering high-quality customer service. Ally Bank has consistently increased its share of the direct banking deposit market and remains one of the largest direct banks in terms of retail deposit balances. Our strong retention rates and a growing customer base reflect the strength of our brand and, together with competitive deposit rates, continue to drive growth in retail deposits. At March 31, 2020, Ally Bank had \$122.3 billion of total deposits, including \$106.1 billion of retail deposits. Over the past several years, the continued growth of our retail-deposit base has contributed to a more favorable mix of lower cost funding and we continue to focus on efficient deposit growth by continuing to expand the deposit value proposition beyond competitive deposit rates. Ally Bank's assets and operating results are included within our Automotive Finance, Mortgage Finance, and Corporate Finance segments, as well as Corporate and Other, based on its underlying business activities.

For more information about our lines of business, please refer to "Item 1. Business" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, as well as any descriptions of our business in our subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, which are incorporated by reference herein.

S-5

# **Table of Contents**

# **Summary of the Notes**

The summary below describes the principal terms of the notes. Certain of the terms and conditions described below are subject to important limitations and exceptions. The "Description of Notes" section of this prospectus supplement contains more detailed descriptions of the terms and conditions of the notes.

For a description of certain considerations that should be taken into account in connection with an investment in the notes, see "Risk Factors" beginning on page S-9.

Issuer

Ally Financial Inc.

**Notes Offered** 

\$800,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 3.050% Senior Notes due 2023.

**Maturity Date** 

The notes will mature on June 5, 2023.

Interest

The notes will bear interest at a rate of 3.050% per year, payable semi-annually, in arrears, on June 5 and December 5 of each year, commencing on December 5, 2020.

Ranking

The notes will constitute unsubordinated unsecured indebtedness of Ally.

- The notes will:
  - rank equally in right of payment with all of Ally's existing and future unsubordinated unsecured indebtedness;
  - rank senior in right of payment to all of Ally's existing and future indebtedness that by its terms is expressly subordinated to such notes;
  - be effectively subordinated to Ally's existing and future secured

indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and

 be structurally subordinated to all of the existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables and lease obligations and, in the case of Ally Bank, its deposits) of Ally's subsidiaries to the extent of the value of the assets of such subsidiaries.

As of March 31, 2020, the Company had approximately \$41.5 billion in principal amount of total debt outstanding, consisting of \$12.9 billion and \$28.6 billion in principal amount of unsecured and secured debt, respectively.

The notes will be redeemable at Ally's option, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, on or after November 30, 2020 (180 days from June 3, 2020) (or, if additional notes are

S-6

# **Table of Contents**

issued thereafter, beginning 180 days after the issue date of such additional notes) and prior to May 6, 2023 (30 days prior to the maturity date), at a redemption price, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, equal to the greater of:

- 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes being redeemed on that redemption date; and
- the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the notes being redeemed that would be due if the notes to be redeemed matured on May 6, 2023 (30 days prior to the maturity date) (not including any portion of such payments of interest accrued to the redemption date) discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the applicable Treasury Rate (as defined in this prospectus supplement) plus 50 basis points.

On and after May 6, 2023 (30 days prior to the maturity date), the notes will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, at Ally's option at a redemption price equal to 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. See "Description of Notes—Optional Redemption" below.

The indenture governing the notes contains covenants that, among other things,

- limit Ally's ability to:
  - grant liens on its assets to secure indebtedness without equally and ratably securing such notes; and
  - merge or consolidate, or transfer or dispose of all or substantially all of its assets; and
- require Ally to provide certain periodic and interim reports to the holders of such notes.

The notes contain covenants that will, among other things:

limit the ability of Ally and its subsidiaries to make payments to holders of such notes in return for a consent, waiver or amendment to the terms of such notes; and

**Optional Redemption** 

**Certain Covenants** 

S-7

#### **Table of Contents**

 require Ally to provide certain additional financial information to the holders of such notes and to prospective investors, upon their request under certain circumstances, as described in the last sentence of "Description of Notes—Certain Covenants—SEC Reports and Reports to Holders".

#### No Prior Market

The notes will be new securities for which there is no market. Although the underwriters have advised us that they intend to make a market in the notes, they are not obligated to do so, and any market making with respect to such notes may be discontinued without notice. We do not intend to list the notes on any securities exchange. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that a liquid market for the notes will develop or be maintained.

# **Use of Proceeds**

We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering for general corporate purposes. Pending the application of the proceeds, we may invest the proceeds in short-term securities. See "Use of Proceeds."

#### **Considerations for Benefit Plan Investors**

For a discussion on certain prohibited transactions and fiduciary duty issues pertaining to purchases by or on behalf of an employee benefit plan, see "Certain Benefit Plan and IRA Considerations."

# Risk Factors

For a discussion of the risks that you should consider carefully before making an investment in the notes, please see "Risk Factors."

S-8

# **Table of Contents**

#### RISK FACTORS

Your decision whether to acquire any notes will involve risk. The risks described below are intended to highlight risks that are specific to the notes being offered but are not the only risks we face.

You should be aware of, and carefully consider, the following risk factors, along with all of the risks and other information provided or referred to in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein, including the discussion in our periodic and current reports including all of the risks discussed in the "Risk Factors" section thereof, before deciding whether to participate in the offering of the notes. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our busines, operations. If any of those risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition and results of operations would suffer. The risks discussed below also include forward-looking statements and our actual results may differ substantially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. See "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" in this prospectus supplement.

# Risks Relating to the Notes

Our substantial level of indebtedness could materially adversely affect our ability to generate sufficient cash to fulfill our obligations under the note our ability to react to changes in our business and our ability to incur additional indebtedness to fund future needs.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness, which requires significant interest and principal payments. As of March 31, 2020, we have approximately \$41.5 billion in principal amount of indebtedness outstanding. We may incur additional indebtedness from time to time. If we do so, the risks related to our high level of indebtedness could be increased.

Our substantial level of indebtedness could have important consequences to holders of the notes, including the following:

- making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, including the notes;
- requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing fundavailable for other purposes;
- increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions, which could place us at a competitive disadvantage compare
  to our competitors that have relatively less indebtedness;
- · limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industries in which we operate; and
- limiting our ability to borrow additional funds, or to dispose of assets to raise funds, if needed, for working capital, capital expenditure acquisitions, research and development and other corporate purposes.

In addition, a breach of any of the restrictions or covenants in our debt agreements could cause a cross-default under other debt agreements. significant portion of our indebtedness then may become immediately due and payable. We are not certain whether we would have, or be able to obtai sufficient funds to make these accelerated payments. If any of our indebtedness is accelerated, our assets may not be sufficient to repay in full sucindebtedness and our other indebtedness.

#### Any credit ratings assigned to the notes may not reflect all risks on the market value of the notes.

Any credit ratings assigned to the notes reflect the rating agencies' opinion of our ability to make payments on the notes when such payment are due and are not a guarantee of quality. Actual or anticipated

S-9

#### **Table of Contents**

changes in the credit ratings assigned to the notes will generally affect the value of your notes. The credit ratings assigned to the notes, however, may n reflect fluctuations in the market value of the notes as a result of changes in prevailing interest rates, our credit spreads, or other factors. Agency ratings a not a recommendation to buy, sell, or hold any security and may be revised or withdrawn at any time. Each agency's rating should be evaluate independently of any other agency's rating.

# We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness, including the notes.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of principal and interest or to satisfy our obligations in respect of our indebtedness, to refinance of indebtedness or to fund capital expenditures will depend on our future operating performance. Prevailing economic conditions (including interest rates regulatory constraints, including, among other things, on distributions to us from our subsidiaries and required capital levels with respect to certain of or banking and insurance subsidiaries, and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, will also affect our ability to me these needs. We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows from operations or obtain future borrowings in an amount sufficient to enable us to pa our indebtedness or fund our other liquidity needs. We may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before maturity. We may not be able to refinance any of our indebtedness when needed on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

# Our subsidiaries will not guarantee the notes and will not be restricted under the indenture for the notes. Your right to receive payments on the notes effectively subordinated to the indebtedness and other liabilities of our subsidiaries.

Our subsidiaries will not guarantee the notes and will not be restricted under the indenture for the notes. Accordingly, in the event of bankruptcy or insolvency, the claims of creditors of our subsidiaries, including holders of any of our outstanding notes that are guaranteed by or subsidiaries, would also rank effectively senior to the notes, to the extent of the assets of those subsidiaries. None of our subsidiaries, or any of the respective subsidiaries, has any obligation to pay any amounts due on the notes or to provide us with funds for our payment obligations, whether be dividends, distributions, loans or other payments. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization of any of our subsidiaries, holders of the liabilities, including trade creditors, will generally be entitled to payment of their claims from the assets of those subsidiaries before any assets are made available for distribution to us. The notes and the indenture will permit us to sell our interests in (through merger, consolidation or otherwise) or subsidiaries, or sell all or substantially all of the assets of any of our subsidiaries, in each case, without the consent of the holders of the notes in certal circumstances.

Our less than wholly owned subsidiaries may also be subject to restrictions on their ability to distribute cash to us in their financing or oth agreements. As a result, we may not be able to access their cash flows to service our debt obligations, including obligations in respect of the notes.

# The notes will be effectively subordinated to our existing and future secured indebtedness which is secured by a lien on certain of our assets.

As of March 31, 2020, we had approximately \$28.6 billion in aggregate principal amount of secured indebtedness outstanding. The notes we not be secured by any of our assets. As a result, our existing and future secured indebtedness will rank effectively senior to the indebtedness represented the notes, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness. In the event of any distribution or payment of our assets in any foreclosur dissolution, winding-up, liquidation or reorganization, or other bankruptcy proceeding, our secured creditors will have a superior claim to the applicab collateral. If any of the foregoing occurs, we cannot assure you that there will be sufficient assets to pay amounts due on the notes. The existing and future liabilities of our subsidiaries will be structurally senior to the indebtedness represented by the notes to the extent of the value of the assets of such subsidiaries.

In addition, if we default under any of our existing or future secured indebtedness, the holders of such indebtedness could declare all of the funds borrowed thereunder, together with accrued interest, immediately due

S-10

#### **Table of Contents**

and payable. If we are unable to repay such indebtedness, the holders of such indebtedness could foreclose on the pledged assets to the exclusion of the holders of the notes, even if an event of default exists under the indenture governing the notes at such time. In any such event, because the notes will not be secured by any of our assets, it is possible that there would be no assets remaining from which your claims could be satisfied or, if any assets remaine they might be insufficient to satisfy your claims in full.

Your ability to transfer the notes may be limited by the absence of an active trading market, and there is no assurance that any active trading mark will develop for the notes.

The notes are a new issue of securities for which there is no established public market. We do not intend to list the notes on any securitie exchange. The underwriters have advised us that they intend to make a market in the notes, as permitted by applicable laws and regulations; however, the underwriters are not obligated to make a market in the notes and they may discontinue their market-making activities at any time without notice. Therefore an active market for the notes may not develop or, if developed, it may not continue.

The liquidity of any market for the notes and the market price will depend upon, among other things, the number of holders of such notes, of financial condition, financial performance and future prospects, the market for similar securities, our credit ratings with major credit rating agencies, the interest of securities dealers in making a market in such notes, and other factors. A liquid trading market may not develop for the notes. If a mark develops for the notes, the notes could trade at prices that may be lower than the initial offering price of the notes. If an active market does not develop is not maintained, the price and liquidity of the notes may be adversely affected. The market, if any, for the notes may not be free from similar disruption and any such disruptions may adversely affect the prices at which you may sell your notes. In addition, credit rating agencies periodically review the ratings and ratings methodologies for the companies that they follow, including Ally, the issuer of the notes. A negative change in ratings could have a adverse effect on the liquidity and price of the notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the credit rating agency at any time.

 $A\ court\ could\ deem\ the\ is suance\ of\ the\ notes\ to\ be\ a\ fraudulent\ conveyance\ and\ void\ all\ or\ a\ portion\ of\ the\ obligations\ represented\ by\ the\ notes.$ 

In a bankruptcy proceeding by Ally, a trustee, debtor in possession, or someone else acting on behalf of the bankruptcy estate may seek to recover transfers made or void obligations incurred prior to the bankruptcy proceeding on the basis that such transfers and obligations constituted frauduler conveyances. Fraudulent conveyances are generally defined to include transfers made or obligations incurred for less than reasonably equivalent value of fair consideration when the debtor was insolvent, inadequately capitalized or in similar financial distress or that rendered the debtor insolvent, inadequately capitalized or unable to pay its debts as they become due, or transfers made or obligations incurred with the intent of hindering, delaying or defrauding current or future creditors. The Bankruptcy Code contains a provision permitting a trustee, debtor in possession or such other party to recover frauduler transfers or void fraudulent obligations that in each case were made or incurred within two years prior to the commencement of a bankruptcy proceeding. The Bankruptcy Code also permits a trustee, debtor in possession or such other party utilize state laws and applicable state limitations periods, which would otherwise be available to individual creditors outside of bankruptcy, to recover such transfers or void such obligations. These state limitation periods at typically longer than two years. If a court were to find that Ally issued the notes under circumstances constituting a fraudulent conveyance, the court couvoid all or a portion of the obligations under the notes. In addition, under such circumstances, the value of any consideration holders received with respect to the notes could also be subject to recovery from such holders and possibly from subsequent transferees.

Therefore, a note could be voided, or claims in respect of a note could be subordinated to all other debts of Ally, if Ally at the time it incurre the indebtedness evidenced by the notes received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for the issuance of such notes, and:

was insolvent or rendered insolvent by reason of such issuance or incurrence;

S-11

# **Table of Contents**

- was engaged in a business or transaction for which Ally's remaining assets constituted unreasonably small capital; or
- intended to incur, or believed that it would incur, debts beyond its ability to pay those debts as they mature.

The measures of insolvency for purposes of these fraudulent transfer laws will vary depending upon the law applied in any proceeding determine whether a fraudulent transfer has occurred. Generally, however, a debtor would be considered insolvent if:

- the sum of its debts, including contingent liabilities, was greater than all of its assets at fair valuation;
- the present fair saleable value of its assets was less than the amount that would be required to pay its probable liability on its existing debts, including contingent liabilities, as they become absolute and mature; or

• it could not pay its debts as they become due.

We cannot assure you as to what standard a court would apply in determining whether Ally would be considered to be insolvent. If a coudetermined that Ally was insolvent after giving effect to the issuance of the new securities, it could void the notes, or potentially impose other forms damages.

With respect to certain actions under the indenture governing the notes, holders of notes will vote together as a single class with holders of all other debt securities issued under the indenture governing the notes that are adversely affected by such actions; therefore the voting interest of a holder of notes under the indenture with respect to such actions will be diluted.

For purposes of the indenture governing the notes, the notes offered hereby and all other debt securities issued thereunder will general constitute a single class of debt securities. Therefore, any action under the indenture governing the notes other than those actions affecting only a particul series of notes will require the consent of the holders of not less than  $66^2/3\%$  in aggregate principal amount of the debt securities issued thereunder that a affected thereby. See "Description of Notes—Modification of the Indenture." Consequently, any action requiring the consent of holders of notes under the indenture governing the notes may also require the consent of holders of a significant portion of the remaining debt securities issued thereunder, and the individual voting interest of each holder of such notes may be accordingly diluted with respect to such actions. In addition, holders of debt securities couvote in favor of certain actions under the indenture that holders of the notes vote against, and the requisite consent to such action could be receive nonetheless. We also may, from time to time, issue additional debt securities under the indenture governing the notes which could further dilute the individual voting interest of each holder of the notes with respect to such actions.

We may redeem the notes prior to their maturity date and you may not be able to reinvest the proceeds in a comparable security.

We may, at our option, redeem, in whole or in part, the notes at any time on or after November 30, 2020 (180 days from June 3, 2020) (or, additional notes are issued thereafter, beginning 180 days after such additional issuance), at the applicable redemption price described herein und "Description of Notes—Optional Redemption." In the event we choose to redeem your notes, you may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the notes.

The notes are not insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

The notes are not savings accounts, deposits or other obligations of a bank and are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC") or any other governmental agency or instrumentality.

S-12

# **Table of Contents**

# USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that the net proceeds from this offering will be approximately \$791,192,000, after deducting the underwriting discount and before estimated offering expenses payable by us. We estimate that our expenses, other than the underwriting discount, will be approximately \$1,000,000.

We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering for general corporate purposes. Pending the application of the proceeds, we may investe proceeds in short-term securities.

S-13

# **Table of Contents**

Cash and cash equivalents(1)

#### **CAPITALIZATION**

The following table sets forth on a consolidated basis:

- the actual capitalization of Ally as of March 31, 2020; and
- the adjusted capitalization of Ally as of March 31, 2020, on an as adjusted basis to reflect the issuance of (i) \$750 million of 5.800 Senior Notes due May 1, 2025, on April 8, 2020, and (ii) the notes.

This table should be read in conjunction with the "Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data" elsewhere in this prospectus suppleme and the historical consolidated financial statements and related notes that are contained in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, which is incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement.

As of March 31, 2020

Secured	7,116	7,11
Unsecured	2,377	2,37
Total short-term borrowings	9,493	9,49
Long-term debt:		<del></del>
Secured		
Due within one year	7,211	7,21
Due after one year	14,211	14,21
Total secured long-term debt	21,422	21,42
Unsecured		
Due within one year	477	47
Due after one year	9,167	9,16
5.800% Senior Notes due 2025(2)	<u> </u>	74
New 3.050% Senior Notes due 2023(3)		79
Total unsecured long-term debt	9,644	11,17
Total long-term debt	31,066	32,60
Total equity	13,519	13,51
Total capitalization	\$44,585	\$ 46,12

Totals may not add up due to rounding.

- (1) Reflects the proceeds of the issuance of the notes offered hereby at the issue price before deducting offering expenses but after deducting the underwriters' discount.
- (2) Reflects the issuance of the 5.800% Senior Notes due 2025 at their issue price of 98.828%.
- (3) Reflects the issuance of the notes offered hereby at their issue price.

S-14

#### **Table of Contents**

# SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected historical financial information for Ally on a consolidated basis. The consolidated statement of income data for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are derived from, are qualified by reference to, our audited consolidated financial statements, which are incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement and should be read in conjunction with those consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. The consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2017 is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, which are not incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement. The condensed consolidated statement of income data for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 and the condensed consolidated balance sheet data at March 31, 2020 are derived from, and qualified by reference to, our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement and should be read in conjunction with those condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. Our historic results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future.

The selected historical financial information should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our financial statements and the corresponding notes, which are incorporated by reference in this prospects supplement.

		or the three led March 31,	At and for the year ended December 31,		
(\$ in millions)	2020	2019	2019	2018	2017
	(una	udited)			
Financial statement data					
Statement of income data:					
Total financing revenue and other interest income	\$ 2,351	\$ 2,433	\$ 9,857	\$ 9,052	\$ 8,32
Interest expense	957	1,055	4,243	3,637	2,85
Depreciation expense on operating lease assets	248	246	981	1,025	1,24
Net financing revenue	1,146	1,132	4,633	4,390	4,22
Total other revenue	266	466	1,761	1,414	1,54
Total net revenue	1,412	1,598	6,394	5,804	5,76
Provision for loan losses	903	282	998	918	1,14
Total noninterest expense	920	830	3,429	3,264	3,11
(Loss) income from continuing operations before income tax expense	(411)	486	1,967	1,622	1,50
Income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations	(92)	111	246	359	58
Net (loss) income from continuing operations	(319)	375	1,721	1,263	92
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax		(1)	(6)		

Net (loss) income		\$ (319)	\$ 374	\$ 1,715	\$ 1,263	\$ 929
Balance sheet data:			:			
Total assets		\$182,527	\$180,117	\$180,644	\$ 178,869	\$ 167,148
Long-term debt		\$ 31,066	\$ 41,490	\$ 34,027	\$ 44,193	\$ 44,220
Total equity		\$ 13,519	\$ 13,699	\$ 14,416	\$ 13,268	\$ 13,49
	S-15					
	5-15					

#### **Table of Contents**

# **DESCRIPTION OF NOTES**

In this description, references to "Ally," "we," "our," and "us" refer only to Ally Financial Inc. and not to any of its direct or indire subsidiaries or affiliates, except as otherwise indicated.

#### General

Ally will issue 3.050% Senior Notes due 2023 (the "notes"), under the indenture dated as of July 1, 1982 (as amended by the first supplement indenture dated as of April 1, 1986, the second supplemental indenture dated as of June 15, 1987, the third supplemental indenture dated as of September 30, 1996, the fourth supplemental indenture dated as of January 1, 1998, and the fifth supplemental indenture dated as of September 30, 199 and together with such supplemental indentures, the "Indenture") among Ally and The Bank of New York Mellon (successor to Morgan Guaranty Tru Company of New York), as trustee (the "Trustee"). The notes will constitute a separate series of notes from those series previously issued under suc Indenture. Those terms of a series of notes that differ from or that are in addition to the terms of the Indenture will be set forth in the resolution resolutions of the board of directors or the executive committee of Ally authorizing the issuance of the applicable series of notes. For the purposes amending or modifying the Indenture, the holders of the notes will generally vote as a single class with the holders of debt securities of all other series the time outstanding under the Indenture (together with the notes, the "Debt Securities").

The following description is a summary of certain provisions of the Indenture and the notes. It does not restate the Indenture or the notes their entirety and is qualified in its entirety by reference to such documents. You may request copies of the Indenture at Ally's address set forth und "Incorporation by Reference; Where You Can Find More Information."

The notes will be issued in fully registered book-entry form without coupons in minimum denominations of \$2,000 principal amount are integral multiples of \$1,000 above that amount. The notes will be issued in the form of global notes. Global notes will be registered in the name of nominee of DTC, New York, New York, as described under "Book-Entry, Delivery and Form of Notes."

The notes offered hereby will be issued on or about June 3, 2020.

# **Principal Amount; Maturity and Interest**

Ally will issue the notes offered by this prospectus supplement in an initial aggregate principal amount of \$800,000,000. The notes will mature on June 5, 2023.

The notes will be denominated in U.S. dollars and all payments of principal and interest thereon will be paid in U.S. dollars.

The notes will bear interest at a rate of 3.050% per year. Interest on the notes will be payable semi-annually, in cash in arrears, on June 5 ar December 5 of each year, beginning on December 5, 2020, to the persons in whose name the notes are registered at the close of business on the date that one calendar day immediately preceding such interest payment date. Interest on the notes will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

The "regular record date" for payments is the calendar day immediately preceding the relevant interest payment date.

Interest on the notes will accrue from and including the date the notes are issued (the "issue date") or from and including the most rece interest payment date (whether or not such interest payment date was a business day) for which interest has been paid or provided for with respect to the notes to but excluding the relevant interest payment date.

S-16

#### **Table of Contents**

If any date on which interest, principal or premium is payable on the notes falls on a day that is not a business day, then payment of suc amounts payable on such date will be postponed to the next succeeding business day, with the same force and effect as if made on the date such payme was due, and no interest or other payment will accrue as a result of such delay.

The notes do not have the benefit of a sinking fund.

#### No Guarantees

None of Ally's subsidiaries will guarantee the notes.

#### Ranking

The notes will rank equally in right of payment with all existing and future unsubordinated unsecured indebtedness of Ally, including all De Securities, and senior in right of payment to existing and future indebtedness of Ally that by its terms is expressly subordinated to such notes. The note will be effectively subordinated to any secured indebtedness of Ally to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt. As of March 31, 2020, All and its direct and indirect subsidiaries on a consolidated basis had approximately \$41.5 billion in principal amount of total debt outstanding, consisting \$12.9 billion and \$28.6 billion in principal amount of unsecured and secured debt, respectively.

The notes will be structurally subordinated to all of the existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables are lease obligations and, in the case of Ally Bank, its deposits) of subsidiaries of Ally to the extent of the value of the assets of such subsidiaries.

# **Optional Redemption**

The notes will be redeemable at Ally's option, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, on or after November 30, 2020 (180 days from June 3, 2020) (or, if additional notes are issued after June 3, 2020, beginning 180 days after the issue date of such additional notes) and prior to the Applicable Par Call Date, at a redemption price, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, equal to the greater of:

- 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes being redeemed on that redemption date; and
- the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the notes being redeemed that would be due if the notes to be redeemed matured on the Applicable Par Call Date (not including any portion of such payments of interest accrue to the redemption date) discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the applicable Treasury Rate plus the Applicable Spread for the notes to be redeemed.

On and after the Applicable Par Call Date, the notes will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, at Ally option at a redemption price equal to 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if an to, but excluding, the redemption date.

If Ally redeems notes at its option, then (a) notwithstanding the foregoing, installments of interest on the notes that are due and payable on an interest payment date falling on or prior to a redemption date for the notes will be payable on that interest payment date to the registered holders thereof of the close of business on the relevant record date according to the terms of the notes and the Indenture and (b) the redemption price will, if applicable, be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.

"Applicable Par Call Date" means May 6, 2023 (30 days prior to the maturity date).

S-17

#### **Table of Contents**

"Applicable Spread" means 50 basis points.

"Comparable Treasury Issue" means the United States Treasury security selected by an Independent Investment Banker as having an actual interpolated maturity comparable to the remaining term of the notes to be redeemed (assuming the notes matured on the Applicable Par Call Date) the would be utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities comparable maturity to such remaining term.

"Comparable Treasury Price" means, with respect to any redemption date for notes to be redeemed, (A) if the Independent Investme Banker obtains four or more applicable Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations aft excluding the highest and lowest of such applicable Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations or (B) if the Independent Investment Banker obtains fewer that four applicable Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations.

"Independent Investment Banker" means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers appointed by Ally to act as the "Independent Investme Banker."

"Reference Treasury Dealers" mean, with respect to the notes offered hereby, (A) Barclays Capital Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Inc. Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC and RBC Capital Markets, LLC (or their respective affiliates which are Primary Treasury Dealers (as defined below)), at their respective successors; provided, however, that if any of the foregoing shall cease to be a primary U.S. Government securities dealer in the Unite States (a "Primary Treasury Dealer"), Ally will substitute therefor another Primary Treasury Dealer; and (B) any other Primary Treasury Dealer(s) selected by Ally.

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotation" means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date for notes to be redeemed, the average, as determined by the Independent Investment Banker, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue for the notes to

#### 424B2

be redeemed on such redemption date (expressed in each case as a percentage of its aggregate principal amount) quoted in writing to the Independe Investment Banker by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the third business day preceding such redemption date. A used in the preceding sentence, "business day" means any day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banking institutions in The City of New York are not authorized or obligated by law or executive order to remain closed.

"Treasury Rate" means, with respect to any redemption date applicable to the notes, the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual equivale yield to maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue for the notes to be redeemed on such redemption date, assuming a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its aggregate principal amount) equal to the applicable Comparable Treasury Price for such redemption date.

Notice of any redemption will be mailed at least 30 days but not more than 90 days before the redemption date to each holder of the notes to be redeemed. Unless Ally defaults in payment of the redemption price, on or after the redemption date, interest will cease to accrue on the notes called for redemption.

If less than all of the notes are to be redeemed, the Trustee shall select pro rata or by lot or in such other manner as the Trustee shall deem fa and appropriate, the notes to be redeemed, subject in all cases to compliance with applicable DTC procedures. The Trustee may select for redemption not and portions of notes in amounts of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof (provided that the unredeemed portion of such notes redeemed in part will not be less than \$2,000) and shall thereafter promptly notify Ally in writing of the numbers of notes to be redeemed, in whole or in part.

In addition, Ally may at any time purchase notes by tender, in the open market or by private agreement, subject to applicable law.

S-18

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Certain Covenants**

#### Limitation on Liens

The Indenture provides that Ally will not pledge or otherwise subject to any lien any of its property or assets unless the notes are secured by such pledge or lien equally and ratably with any and all other obligations and indebtedness secured thereby so long as any such other obligations are indebtedness shall be so secured. This covenant does not apply to:

- the pledge of any assets to secure any financing by Ally of the exporting of goods to or between, or the marketing thereof in, foreig countries (other than Canada), in connection with which Ally reserves the right, in accordance with customary and established banking practice, to deposit, or otherwise subject to a lien, cash, securities or receivables, for the purpose of securing banking accommodations of as the basis for the issuance of bankers' acceptances or in aid of other similar borrowing arrangements;
- the pledge of receivables payable in foreign currencies (other than Canadian dollars) to secure borrowings in foreign countries (other than Canada);
- any deposit of assets of Ally with any surety company or clerk of any court, or in escrow, as collateral in connection with, or in lieu or any bond on appeal by Ally from any judgment or decree against it, or in connection with other proceedings in actions at law or in equit by or against Ally;
- any lien or charge on any property, tangible or intangible, real or personal, existing at the time of acquisition of such property (including acquisition through merger or consolidation) or given to secure the payment of all or any part of the purchase price thereof or to secure any indebtedness incurred prior to, at the time of, or within 60 days after, the acquisition thereof for the purpose of financing all or are part of the purchase price thereof; and
- any extension, renewal or replacement (or successive extensions, renewals or replacements), in whole or in part, of any lien, charge of pledge referred to in the foregoing four clauses of this paragraph; provided, however, that the amount of any and all obligations are indebtedness secured thereby shall not exceed the amount thereof so secured immediately prior to the time of such extension, renewal or replacement and that such extension, renewal or replacement shall be limited to all or a part of the property which secured the charge lien so extended, renewed or replaced (plus improvements on such property).

#### Merger and Consolidation

The Indenture provides that Ally will not merge or consolidate with another corporation or sell or convey all or substantially all of Ally's asset to another person, firm or corporation unless either Ally is the continuing corporation or the successor corporation (if other than Ally) shall be a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or a state thereof and such corporation shall expressly assume the interest are principal (and premium, if any) due under the Debt Securities and the performance and observance of all applicable conditions and covenants. In eith case, the Indenture provides that neither Ally nor a successor corporation may be in default of performance immediately after such merger or consolidation or sale or conveyance, the successor corporation may continue to issue securities under the Indenture.

# SEC Reports and Reports to Holders

Ally will be required to file with the Trustee within fifteen days after Ally is required to file the same with the SEC, copies of the annu reports and of the information, documents and other reports (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the SEC may from time to time by rule and regulations prescribe) which Ally

S-19

#### **Table of Contents**

may be required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; or, if Ally is not required to file information, document or reports pursuant to either of such sections, then to file with the Trustee and the SEC, in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed from time to time by the SEC, such of the supplementary and periodic information, documents and reports which may be required pursuant to Section 13 of the Exchange Act in respect of a security listed and registered on a national securities exchange as may be prescribed from time to time in such rules are regulations. In addition, Ally will be required to file with the Trustee and the SEC, in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed from time to time by the SEC, such additional information, documents and reports with respect to compliance by Ally with the conditions and covenants provided for the Indenture as may be required from time to time by such rules and regulations. Ally has also agreed that, for so long as any notes remain outstanding during any period when it is not subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or otherwise permitted to furnish the SEC with certain information pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) of the Exchange Act, it will furnish to the holders of the notes and to prospective investors, upon their request, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

#### Payments for Consent

Ally will not, and will not permit any of its subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, pay or cause to be paid any consideration, whether by way interest, fee or otherwise, to any holder of any notes for or as an inducement to any consent, waiver or amendment of any of the terms or provisions of the Indenture or such notes unless such consideration is offered to be paid or agreed to be paid to all holders of the notes which so consent, waive or agree amend in the time frame set forth in solicitation documents relating to such consent, waiver or agreement.

#### **Modification of the Indenture**

The Indenture contains provisions permitting Ally and the Trustee to modify or amend the Indenture or any supplemental indenture or the rights of the holders of the Debt Securities issued, with the consent of the holders of not less than  $66^2/_3\%$  in aggregate principal amount of the Debt Securities which are affected by such modification or amendment, voting as one class, provided that, no such modification shall:

- extend the fixed maturity of any Debt Securities, or reduce the principal amount thereof, or premium, if any, or reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, without the consent of the holder of each Debt Security so affected; or
- reduce the aforesaid percentage of Debt Securities, the consent of the holders of which is required for any such modification, without the consent of the holders of all Debt Securities then outstanding under the Indenture.

The Indenture contains provisions permitting Ally and the Trustee to enter into indentures supplemental to the Indenture, without the conse of the holders of the Debt Securities at the time outstanding, for one or more of the following purposes:

- to evidence the succession of another corporation to Ally, or successive successions, and the assumption by any successor corporation of certain covenants, agreements and obligations;
- to add to the covenants such further covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions as Ally's board of directors and the Trustee sha consider to be for the protection of the holders of Debt Securities;
- to permit or facilitate the issuance of Debt Securities in coupon form, registrable or not registrable as to principal, and to provide for exchangeability of such securities with securities issued thereunder in fully registered form;
- to cure any ambiguity or to correct or supplement any provision contained therein or in any supplemental indenture which may be defective or inconsistent with any other provision contained

S-20

# **Table of Contents**

therein or in any supplemental indenture; to convey, transfer, assign, mortgage or pledge any property to or with the Trustee; or to make such other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising under the Indenture as shall not adversely affect the interests of the holder of any Debt Securities of any series; or

to evidence and provide for the acceptance and appointment by a successor trustee.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, holders of the notes shall vote as a separate class with respect to amendments, modifications or waive

affecting only the notes (including, for the avoidance of doubt, with respect to amendments to or waivers of the following covenants that will be set forth the notes: the covenant described in the last sentence under "—Certain Covenants—SEC Reports and Reports to Holders" and the covenant described und "—Certain Covenants—Payments for Consent", and all such covenants and provisions hereinafter referred to as, the "Additional Covenants") and the holders of other Debt Securities shall not have any voting rights with respect to such matters as they relate to the notes.

#### **Events of Default**

An event of default with respect to the notes is defined in the Indenture as being (the "Indenture Events of Default"):

- default in payment of any principal or premium, if any with respect to the notes;
- default for 30 days in payment of any interest with respect to the notes;
- default in the performance of any other covenant in the Indenture or the notes for 30 days after notice by the Trustee or holders of at lea 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes at the time outstanding; or
- certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization with respect to Ally.

In case any of the first, second or third Indenture Events of Default above shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee or the holders of not let than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Debt Securities affected thereby then outstanding may declare the principal amount of all of the De Securities affected thereby to be due and payable. In case an event of default as set out in the fourth Indenture Event of Default above shall occur and to continuing, the Trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of all the Debt Securities then outstanding, voting as one class may declare the principal of all outstanding Debt Securities to be due and payable. Any Event of Default may be waived and a declaration of acceleration payment rescinded by the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes, or of all the outstanding Debt Securities, as the case may be, sums sufficient to pay all amounts due (with interest, if any) other than amounts due upon acceleration are provided to the Trustee and all defaults a remedied. For such purposes, if the principal of all series of Debt Securities shall have been declared to be payable, all series will be treated as a sing class. Ally is required to file with the Trustee annually an officers' certificate as to the absence of certain defaults under the terms of the Indenture. The Indenture provides that the Trustee may withhold notice to the securityholders of any default, except in payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest, it considers it in the interest of the securityholders to do so.

The holders of the notes shall vote as a separate class from the holders of the other Debt Securities with respect to any defaults or events default or remedies relating thereto as a result of any covenants, obligations or provisions affecting only the notes and no other series of Debt Securities.

Subject to the provisions of the Indenture relating to the duties of the Trustee in case an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the Indenture at the request, order or direction of any of the securityholder unless such securityholders shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred.

Subject to such provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and to certain other limitations, the holders of a majority in principal amou of the Debt Securities affected shall have the right to direct the time,

S-21

#### **Table of Contents**

method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee.

#### **Satisfaction and Discharge**

The Indenture shall cease to be of further effect with respect to the notes if at any time (a) Ally shall have delivered to the Trustee for cancellation all notes theretofore authenticated (other than any notes which shall have been destroyed, lost or stolen and which shall have been replaced paid), or (b) all such notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation shall have become due and payable, or are by their terms to become due and payable within one year or are to be called for redemption within one year under arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of notice redemption, and Ally shall deposit or cause to be deposited with the Trustee as trust funds the entire amount (other than moneys repaid by the Trustee any paying agent to Ally) sufficient to pay at maturity or upon redemption all notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, including principal (and premium, if any) and interest due or to become due to such date of maturity or date fixed for redemption, as the case may be, and if in eith case Ally shall also pay or cause to be paid all other sums payable under the Indenture by Ally with respect to such notes.

All such moneys deposited with the Trustee shall be held in trust and applied by it to the payment, either directly or through any paying age (including Ally acting as its own paying agent), to the holders of the notes for the payment or redemption of which such moneys have been deposited with the Trustee, of all sums due and to become due thereon for principal and interest (and premium, if any).

# **Further Issues**

Ally may from time to time, without notice to or the consent of the registered holders of the notes, create and issue further notes ranking equally with the notes offered by this prospectus supplement in all respects, or in all respects except for the issue date and price to public, payment of interest accruing prior to the issue date of such further notes. Such

further notes may be consolidated and form a single series with the notes offered by this prospectus supplement and have the same terms as to statu redemption or otherwise as the notes offered by this prospectus supplement, *provided* that if such additional notes are not fungible with the original note for U.S. federal income tax purposes, such additional notes will have a separate CUSIP number.

#### **Concerning the Trustee**

The Trustee for the notes will be designated by Ally as the initial paying agent, transfer agent and registrar with respect to the notes. The Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee is currently located at 240 Greenwich Street, Floor 7W, New York, N.Y. 10286, U.S.A., Attention: Corporate Trust Administration.

The Indenture provides that the Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default of the notes and after the curing of all such Events of Default of the notes which may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in the Indenture. If are such Event of Default has occurred (which has not been cured) with respect to the notes, the Trustee will use the same degree of care and skill in it exercise of the rights and powers vested in it by the Indenture as a prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs. The Indenture also provides that the Trustee or any agent of Ally or the Trustee, in their individual or any other capacity, may become the owner of pledgee of notes with the same rights it would have if it were not the Trustee or agent; provided, however, that all moneys received by the Trustee or are paying agent shall, until used or applied as provided in the Indenture, be held in trust thereunder for the purposes for which they were received and need to be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.

#### Governing Law and Consent to Jurisdiction

The Indenture is and the notes will be governed by and will be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

S-22

#### **Table of Contents**

# **BOOK-ENTRY, DELIVERY AND FORM OF NOTES**

Except as set forth below, the notes will be issued in registered global form (the "Global Notes") without interest coupons in minimu denominations of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof. The Global Notes will be deposited upon issuance with the Trustee, a custodian for DTC, in New York, New York, and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, in each case for credit to an account of a direct or indire participant in DTC as described below.

Except as set forth below, the Global Notes may be transferred, in whole and not in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor DTC or its nominee. Beneficial interests in the Global Notes may not be exchanged for notes in certificated form except in the limited circumstance described below. See "—Exchange of Book-Entry Notes for Certificated Notes." Except in the limited circumstances described below, owners beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of Certificated Notes (as defined below). Transfers of benefici interests in the Global Notes will be subject to the applicable rules and procedures of DTC and its direct or indirect participants (including, if applicable those of Euroclear and Clearstream), which may change from time to time.

Initially, the Trustee will act as paying agent and registrar. The notes may be presented for registration of transfer and exchange at the office of the registrar.

#### Certain Procedures

The following description of the operations and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream are provided solely as a matter of convenience. These operations and procedures are solely within the control of the respective settlement systems and are subject to changes by them from time to time. We and the Trustee take no responsibility for these operations and procedures and urge investors to contact the system or their participants directly discuss these matters.

DTC has advised us that DTC is a limited-purpose trust company created to hold securities for its participating organizations (collectively, the "Participants") and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of transactions in those securities between Participants through electronic book-entry change in accounts of its Participants. The Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain oth organizations. Access to DTC's system is also available to other entities such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or mainta a custodial relationship with a Participant, either directly or indirectly (collectively, the "Indirect Participants").

Persons who are not Participants may beneficially own securities held by or on behalf of DTC only through the Participants or the Indire Participants. The ownership interests in, and transfers of ownership interests in, each security held by or on behalf of DTC are recorded on the records the Participants and Indirect Participants.

DTC has also advised us that, pursuant to procedures established by it, ownership of interests in the Global Notes will be shown on, and the transfer of ownership thereof will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to the Participants) or by the Participants and the Indirect Participants (with respect to other owners of beneficial interest in the Global Notes).

The laws of some states require that certain persons take physical delivery in definitive form of securities that they own. Consequently, the ability to transfer beneficial interests in a Global Note to such persons will be limited to that extent. Because DTC can act only on behalf of Participant

which in turn act on behalf of Indirect Participants and certain banks, the ability of a person having beneficial interests in a Global Note to pledge such interests to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interests, may be affected by the lact of a physical certificate evidencing such interests.

S-23

#### **Table of Contents**

Except as described below, owners of interests in the Global Notes will not have notes registered in their names, will not receive physical delivery of notes in certificated form and will not be considered the registered owners or "holders" thereof under the indenture governing such notes for any purpose.

Payments in respect of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on a Global Note registered in the name of DTC or its nominee will be payable to DTC in its capacity as the registered holder under the indenture governing the notes. Under the terms of the indenture governing the notes, we and the Trustee will treat the persons in whose names the notes, including the Global Notes, are registered as the owners thereof for the purpose receiving such payments and for any and all other purposes whatsoever. Consequently, none of us, the Trustee or any of our or the Trustee's agents has will have any responsibility or liability for (i) any aspect of DTC's records or any Participant's or Indirect Participant's records relating to or paymen made on account of beneficial ownership interest in the Global Notes, or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of DTC's records or any Participant's or Indirect Participant's records relating to the beneficial ownership interests in the Global Notes or (ii) any other matter relating to the action and practices of DTC or any of its Participants or Indirect Participants. DTC has advised us that its current practice, upon receipt of any payment in respect of securities such as the notes (including principal and interest), is to credit the accounts of the relevant Participants with the payment on the payment dat in amounts proportionate to their respective holdings in the principal amount of beneficial interest in the relevant security as shown on the records of DT unless DTC has reason to believe it will not receive payment on such payment date. Payments by the Participants and the Indirect Participants to the beneficial owners of notes will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices and will be the responsibility of the Participants or the Indirect Participants and will not be the responsibility of DTC, the Trustee or us. Neither we nor the Trustee will be liable for any delay by DTC or any its Participants in identifying the beneficial owners of any note

Except for trades involving only Euroclear and Clearstream participants, interests in the Global Notes are expected to be eligible to trade of DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and secondary market trading activity in such interests will, therefore, settle in immediately available fund subject in all cases to the rules and procedures of DTC and its Participants. See "—Same-Day Settlement and Payment." Transfers between Participants in DTC will be effected in accordance with DTC's procedures, and will be settled in same-day funds, and transfers between participants in Euroclear of Clearstream will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with their respective rules and operating procedures.

Crossmarket transfers between the Participants in DTC, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream participants, on the other hand, will be effected through DTC in accordance with DTC's rules on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, by its respective depositary; however such cross-market transactions will require delivery of instructions to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, by the counterparty in such system accordance with the rules and procedures and within the established deadlines of such system. Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, will, if the transaction meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its respective depositary to take action to effect final settlement on its behalf be delivering or receiving interests in the relevant Global Note in DTC, and making or receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-day funds settlement applicable to DTC. Euroclear and Clearstream participants may not deliver instructions directly to the depositaries for Euroclear Clearstream.

DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of notes only at the direction of one or more Participants whose account DTC has credited the interests in the Global Notes and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of such notes as which such Participant or Participants has or have given such direction. However, if there is an Event of Default under the notes, DTC reserves the right exchange the Global Notes for legended notes in certificated form and to distribute such notes to its Participants.

S-24

# **Table of Contents**

Neither we nor the Trustee nor any of our or their respective agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or its Participan or Indirect Participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

# **Exchange of Book-Entry Notes for Certificated Notes**

A Global Note is exchangeable for definitive notes in registered certificated form ("Certificated Notes") if (i) DTC notifies us that it unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for the Global Notes and we thereupon fail to appoint a successor depositary within 90 days or (ii) we at artime determine not to have the notes represented by the Global Notes. In addition, beneficial interests in a Global Note may be exchanged for Certificate Notes upon request, but only upon prior written notice given to the Trustee by or on behalf of DTC in accordance with the indenture governing the notes and in accordance with the certification requirements set forth in the indenture governing the notes. In all cases, Certificated Notes delivered in exchange

for any Global Note or beneficial interests therein will be registered in the names, and issued in any approved denominations, requested by or on behalf DTC (in accordance with its customary procedures).

#### Same-Day Settlement and Payment

Payments in respect of any notes represented by the Global Notes (including principal, premium, if any, and interest) will be made by with transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the Global Note holder. With respect to any notes in certificated form, we will make a payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the holders thereof or, if is such account is specified, by mailing a check to each such holder's registered address. Any notes represented by the Global Notes are expected to trade DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and any permitted secondary market trading activity in such notes will, therefore, be required by DTC to be settled in immediately available funds. We expect that secondary trading in any Certificated Notes will also be settled in immediately available funds.

Because of time zone differences, the securities account of a Euroclear or Clearstream participant purchasing an interest in a Global Note fro a Participant in DTC will be credited, and any such crediting will be reported to the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream participant, during the securities settlement processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear and Clearstream) immediately following the settlement date of DTC. DTC has advised us that cash received in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of sales of interests in a Global Note by or through a Euroclear or Clearstream participant to a Participant in DTC will be received with value on the settlement date of DTC, but will be available in the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash account only as of the business day for Euroclear or Clearstream following DTC's settlement date.

S-25

#### **Table of Contents**

#### CERTAIN BENEFIT PLAN AND IRA CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a summary of certain considerations associated with the purchase of any notes offered by this prospectus supplement, holding and, to the extent relevant, disposition of such notes by an employee benefit plan subject to Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), a plan described in Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), including an individual retirement account ("IRA") or a Keogh plan, a plan subject to provisions under applicable federal, state, local, non-U.S. or other laws or regulations that are similar to the provisions of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code ("Similar Laws") and any entity whose underlying assets include "plansets" by reason of any such employee benefit or retirement plan's investment in such entity (each of which we refer to as a "Plan").

General Fiduciary Matters. ERISA and the Code impose certain duties on persons who are fiduciaries of a Plan subject to Title I of ERIS or Section 4975 of the Code (an "ERISA Plan") and prohibit certain transactions involving the assets of an ERISA Plan with its fiduciaries or oth interested parties. In general, under ERISA and the Code, any person who exercises any discretionary authority or control over the administration of such a ERISA Plan or the management or disposition of the assets of such an ERISA Plan, or who renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation such an ERISA Plan, is generally considered to be a fiduciary of the ERISA Plan. Employee benefit plans that are governmental plans (as defined Section 3(32) of ERISA), certain church plans (as defined in Section 4975(g)(3) of the Code) and non-U.S. plans (as described in Section 4(b)(4) of ERISA) are not subject to the requirements of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (but may be subject to similar prohibitions und Similar Laws).

In considering the purchase, holding and, to the extent relevant, disposition of any notes with a portion of the assets of a Plan, a fiducial should determine whether the investment is in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the Plan and the applicable provisions of ERISA the Code or any Similar Law relating to a fiduciary's duties to the Plan including, without limitation, the prudence, diversification, delegation of contrand prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA, the Code and any other applicable Similar Laws.

**Prohibited Transaction Issues.** Section 406 of ERISA prohibits ERISA Plans from engaging in specified transactions involving plan asses with persons or entities who are "parties in interest," within the meaning of Section 3(14) of ERISA, and Section 4975 of the Code imposes an excise tax of certain "disqualified persons," within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code, who engage in similar transactions, in each case unless an exemption available. A party in interest or disqualified person who engages in a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to excise taxes and other penaltic and liabilities under ERISA and the Code. In addition, the fiduciary of an ERISA Plan that engages in such a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to penalties and liabilities under ERISA and the Code. In the case of an IRA, the occurrence of a prohibited transaction could cause the IRA to locate its tax-exempt status.

The purchase and holding of any notes by an ERISA Plan with respect to which Ally or the underwriters (or certain of our or their affiliates) considered a party in interest or a disqualified person may constitute or result in a direct or indirect prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA ar Section 4975 of the Code, unless the investment is acquired and is held in accordance with an applicable statutory, class or individual prohibited transaction exemption. In this regard, the U.S. Department of Labor has issued prohibited transaction class exemptions, or "PTCEs," that may apply to the acquisition and holding of such notes. These class exemptions include, without limitation, PTCE 84-14 respecting transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset managers, PTCE 90-1 respecting insurance company pooled separate accounts, PTCE 91-38 respecting bank collective investment funds, PTCE 95-60 respecting life insurance company general accounts and PTCE 96-23 respecting transactions determined by in-house asset manager. In addition, Section 408(b)(17) of ERISA and Section 4975(d)(20) of the Code each provides a limited exemption, commonly referred to as the "service provider exemption," from the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code for certain transactions between an ERISA Pla and a person that is a party in interest or a disqualified person (other than a fiduciary or an affiliate that, directly or indirectly, has or exercises and the content of the code in the code

S-26

#### **Table of Contents**

control or renders any investment advice with respect to the assets of any ERISA Plan involved in the transaction) solely by reason of providing services the Plan or by relationship to a service provider, provided that the ERISA Plan pays no more or receives no less than adequate consideration in connectic with the transaction. There can be no assurance that all of the conditions of any such exemptions will be satisfied at the time that such notes are acquired to a purchaser, or thereafter, if the facts relied upon for utilizing a prohibited transaction exemption change.

Because of the foregoing, the notes should not be acquired or held by any person investing "plan assets" of any Plan, unless such acquisition and holding will not constitute a non-exempt prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code or similar violation of any applicable Similar Laws.

**Representation.** Each purchaser and holder of any notes will be deemed to have represented and warranted that either (i) it is not a Plan, suc as an IRA, and no portion of the assets used to acquire or hold such notes constitutes assets of any Plan or (ii) the purchase and holding of a note will n constitute a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code or a violation under any applicable Similar Laws

The foregoing discussion is general in nature and is not intended to be all-inclusive. Due to the complexity of these rules and the penalties that may be imposed upon persons involved in non-exempt prohibited transactions, it is particularly important that fiduciaries or other persons considering purchasing notes on behalf of, or with the assets of, any Plan, consult with their counsel regarding the potential applicability of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code and any Similar Laws to such investment and whether an exemption would be applicable to the purchase are holding of the notes. The sale of any notes to any Plan is in no respect a representation by us or any of our affiliates or representatives that such a investment meets all relevant legal requirements with respect to investments by such Plans generally or any particular plan, or that such a investment is appropriate for Plans generally or any particular Plan.

S-27

#### **Table of Contents**

basis.

# U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

The following summary describes material U.S. federal income tax consequences of ownership and disposition of the notes. This discussion applies only to notes that:

- are purchased in this offering by initial investors at the "issue price," which will equal the first price to the public (not including bor houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers) at which substantial amount of the notes is sold for money; and
- are held as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code.

This discussion does not describe all of the tax consequences that may be relevant to you in light of your particular circumstances or if you a subject to special rules, such as:

- a financial institution (such as a bank or an insurance company);
- a tax-exempt entity;
- a dealer in securities;
- a person holding notes as part of a "straddle" or an integrated transaction;
- a U.S. Holder (as defined below) whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;
- a partnership or other entity classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
- a U.S. expatriate; or
- a person subject to the alternative minimum tax.

If you are a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of your partners will generally deper upon your activities and the status of the partners. If you are a partnership or a partner in a partnership holding notes, you are urged to consult your tax adviser as to the particular U.S. federal income tax consequences of holding and disposing of the notes.

adviser as to the particular U.S. federal income tax consequences of holding and disposing of the notes.

This summary is based on the Code, administrative pronouncements, judicial decisions and final, temporary and proposed Treasur regulations, changes to any of which after the date of this prospectus supplement may affect the tax consequences described herein, possibly on a retroactive

This summary does not discuss unearned income Medicare contribution taxation under Section 1411 of the Code, any aspect of state, local, non-U.S. taxation, or any U.S. federal tax considerations other than income taxation (such as estate or gift taxation).

If you are considering the purchase of notes, you are urged to consult your tax adviser with regard to the application of the U.S. federal tales to your particular situation as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, local or foreign taxing jurisdiction.

#### Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders

This section applies to you if you are a "U.S. Holder." You are a "U.S. Holder" if you are a beneficial owner of a note that is for U.S. feder income tax purposes:

- a citizen or individual resident of the United States;
- an entity taxable as a corporation created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia; or
- an estate or trust the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source.

S-28

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Payments of Interest

Interest paid on a note will be taxable to you as ordinary interest income at the time it accrues or is received, in accordance with your methor of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes. It is expected, and this discussion assumes, that the notes will be issued without original issue discounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

# Sale, Retirement or Other Disposition

Upon the sale, retirement or other disposition of a note, you will generally recognize taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale, retirement or other disposition and your tax basis in the note (generally, its cost). For these purposes, the amount realized do not include any amount attributable to accrued interest, which is treated as interest, as described under "Payments of Interest" above.

Gain or loss realized on the sale, retirement or other disposition of a note will generally be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capit gain or loss if at the time of sale, retirement or other disposition, the note has been held for more than one year. If you are a non-corporate U.S. Holder, ar long-term capital gain you recognize is subject to a reduced rate of taxation. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

# Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Information returns may be filed with the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") in connection with payments on the notes and the proceed from a sale, retirement or other disposition of the notes. You will be subject to U.S. backup withholding on these payments if you fail timely to provid your correct taxpayer identification number to the paying agent and comply with certain certification procedures or otherwise establish an exemption fro backup withholding. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to you will be allowed as a credit against your U.S. federal income to liability and may entitle you to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

# Tax Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders

This section applies to you if you are a "Non-U.S. Holder." You are a "Non-U.S. Holder" if you are a beneficial owner of a note that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

- a nonresident alien individual;
- a foreign entity taxable as a corporation; or
- a foreign estate or trust.

Subject to the discussion below concerning effectively connected income, backup withholding and FATCA withholding:

- Payments of interest on the notes will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax (including 30% U.S. federal withholding tax), provide that:
  - you do not own, actually or constructively, 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of Ally entitle to vote and are not a controlled foreign corporation related, directly or indirectly, to Ally through stock ownership; and
  - you have fulfilled the certification requirement described below.
  - You will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain realized on the sale, retirement or other disposition of a note, unless (i) the gain is effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States, in which case you will be subject to tax as and to the extent described below, or (ii) you are an individual who is present in the United States for a period or period aggregating 183 or more days in the taxable year of the disposition and

#### **Table of Contents**

certain other conditions are met, in which case you will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on such gain (net of certain U.S source capital losses) at a rate of 30% (or a lower applicable treaty rate).

The certification requirement described above generally will be satisfied if you certify on an appropriate IRS Form W-8 (or other appropria form), under penalties of perjury, that you are not a U.S. person.

If you are engaged in a trade or business in the United States, and if income or gain on the note is effectively connected with the conduct that trade or business, (i) that income or gain, although exempt from the withholding tax referred to above, will generally be subject to tax in the san manner as income or gain realized by a U.S. Holder (see "—Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders" above), subject to an applicable income tax trea providing otherwise, and (ii) you will generally be required to provide a properly executed IRS Form W-8ECI (or other appropriate form) in order receive payments free of withholding. In that event, you should consult your tax adviser with respect to other U.S. tax consequences of owning ar disposing of notes, including, if you are a foreign corporation, the possible imposition of a branch profits tax on your effectively connected earnings ar profits at a rate of 30% (or a lower treaty rate).

#### Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Information returns will be filed with the IRS in connection with interest payments on the notes. Unless you comply with certification procedures to establish that you are not a U.S. person, information returns may be filed with the IRS in connection with the payment of proceeds of a sall retirement or other disposition of a note, and you may be subject to backup withholding with respect to payments on your notes or on the proceeds from the sale, retirement or other disposition of a note. Compliance with the certification procedures required to claim the exemption from withholding tax of interest described above will avoid backup withholding as well. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to you will be allowed as a creating against your U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle you to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

#### **FATCA**

Pursuant to legislation commonly referred to as "FATCA" and regulations promulgated thereunder, payments to foreign entities of interest of and the gross proceeds of dispositions of debt obligations of a U.S. issuer will, subject to the discussion below, be subject to a withholding tax (separa and apart from, but without duplication of, the withholding tax described above) at a rate of 30%, unless various U.S. information reporting and disligence requirements (generally relating to ownership by U.S. persons of interests in or accounts with those entities) have been satisfied. Accordingly withholding under FATCA generally will apply to payments of interest on the notes. However, under recently issued proposed U.S. Treasury Regulation withholding under FATCA will not apply to payments of gross proceeds of a sale or other disposition of notes. An intergovernmental agreement between the United States and the non-U.S. entity's jurisdiction may modify these requirements. You should consult your tax adviser regarding the possible effect of this withholding tax on your investment in the notes.

S-30

# **Table of Contents**

#### UNDERWRITING

Subject to the terms and conditions in the underwriting agreement among us and the underwriters, we have agreed to sell to the underwriter and the underwriters have severally agreed to purchase from us, the entire principal amount of the notes indicated in the following table.

Name of Underwriter	Principal Amount of Notes	
Barclays Capital Inc.	\$	180,000,000
Citigroup Global Markets Inc.		180,000,000
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC		180,000,000
RBC Capital Markets, LLC		180,000,000
Lloyds Securities Inc.		15,000,000
Raymond James & Associates, Inc.		15,000,000
Scotia Capital (USA) Inc.		15,000,000
U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc.		15,000,000
Academy Securities, Inc.		4,000,000
AmeriVet Securities, Inc.		4,000,000
Blaylock Van, LLC		4,000,000
Multi-Bank Securities, Inc.		4,000,000
R. Seelaus & Co., LLC		4,000,000
Total	\$	800,000,000

The obligations of the underwriters under the underwriting agreement, including their agreement to purchase notes from us, are several and n joint. The underwriting agreement provides that the underwriters will purchase all the notes if any of them are purchased.

The underwriters propose to offer the notes directly to the public at the public offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospects supplement and may offer the notes to certain dealers at that price less a concession not in excess of 0.250% per note. Any such dealers may resell such notes to certain other brokers or dealers at a discount of up to 0.150% per note from the public offering price.

The underwriters initially propose to offer the notes to the public at the public offering price that appears on the cover of this prospects supplement. After the initial offering, the underwriters may change the public offering price and any other selling terms with respect to the notes. The underwriters may offer and sell notes through certain of their affiliates. The offering of the notes by the underwriters is subject to receipt and acceptant and subject to the underwriters' right to reject any order in whole or in part.

In the underwriting agreement, we have agreed that:

- we will not, during the offering of the notes, without the prior written consent of Barclays Capital Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Inc.

  Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC and RBC Capital Markets, LLC offer, sell, contract to sell or otherwise dispose of in a capital market transaction any debt securities issued or guaranteed by us and having a tenor of more than one year; and
- we will indemnify the several underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or contribute to payments that the underwriters may be required to make in respect of those liabilities.

S-31

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table shows the underwriting discount that we will pay to the underwriters in connection with the offering of the notes.

	Per Note	Total
Price to public(1)	99.299%	\$794,392,000
Underwriting discount	0.400%	\$ 3,200,000
Proceeds, before expenses, to Ally	98.899%	\$791,192,000

(1) Plus accrued interest, if any, from June 3, 2020.

The expenses of the offering, not including the underwriting discount, are estimated at approximately \$1,000,000 and are payable by us.

The notes are a new issue of securities, and there is currently no established trading market for such notes. We do not intend to apply for listing of the notes on any national securities exchange or for inclusion of the notes on any automated dealer quotation system. The underwriters have advised that they intend to make a market in such notes, but they are not obligated to do so. The underwriters may discontinue any market making in the notes any time in their sole discretion. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that a liquid trading market will develop for the notes, that you will be able to se your notes at a particular time or that prices that you receive when you sell will be favorable.

In connection with the offering of the notes, the underwriters may engage in overallotment, stabilizing transactions and syndicate covering transactions. Overallotment involves sales in excess of the offering size, which creates a short position for the underwriters. Stabilizing transactions involve bids to purchase notes in the open market for the purpose of pegging, fixing or maintaining the price of the notes. Syndicate covering transactions involve purchases of notes in the open market after the distribution has been completed in order to cover short positions. Stabilizing transactions and syndicate covering transactions may cause the price of the notes to be higher than it would otherwise be in the absence of those transactions. If the underwrite engage in stabilizing or syndicate covering transactions, they may discontinue them at any time.

The underwriters may also impose a penalty bid. This occurs when a particular underwriter repays to the underwriters a portion of the underwriting discount received by it because the representatives have repurchased notes sold by or for the account of such underwriter in stabilizing a short covering transactions.

The underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, lending, investment management, investment research, principal investment, hedging financing and brokerage activities. Certain of the underwriters and their respective affiliates have, from time to time, performed, currently perform, and may in the future perform, various financial advisory and investment banking services for us, for which they have received customary compensation are may provide such services and receive customary compensation in the future. Certain of the relationships involve transactions that are material to us or or affiliates and for which the underwriters or their respective affiliates have received significant fees. In addition, certain of the underwriters or their affiliate may serve as agents and lenders under certain of our existing credit facilities.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the underwriters and their respective affiliates may make or hold a broad array investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their ow account and for the accounts of their customers and such investment and securities activities may involve securities or instruments of the issuer. If the underwriters or their affiliates have a lending relationship with us, certain of those underwriters or those affiliates routinely hedge, and certain other of those underwriters or their affiliates may hedge, their credit exposure to us consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, the underwrite and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of the contractions.

short positions in our securities, including potentially any notes offered hereby. Any such credit default swaps or short positions could adversely afferture trading prices of the notes offered hereby. The

S-32

#### **Table of Contents**

underwriters and their respective affiliates may also make investment recommendations or publish or express independent research views in respect of successful securities or instruments and may at any time hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long or short positions in such securities and instruments.

#### **Selling Restrictions**

#### Canada

The notes may be sold only to purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are accredited investors, as defined a National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario), and are permitted clients, as defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of the notes must be made in accordance with an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for rescission or damages if the prospectus supplement (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory. The purchaser should refer to an applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory for particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.

Pursuant to section 3A.3 (or, in the case of securities issued or guaranteed by the government of a non-Canadian jurisdiction, section 3A.4) (National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts (NI 33-105), the underwriters are not required to comply with the disclosure requirements of N 33-105 regarding underwriter conflicts of interest in connection with this offering.

# European Economic Area and UK Retail Investors

The notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the "EEA") or in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is or (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97 (as amended, the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client a defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation"). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA or in the United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering selling the notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA or in the United Kingdom may be unlawful under the PRIII Regulation. This prospectus supplement has been prepared on the basis that any offer of notes in any Member State of the EEA or in the United Kingdom will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of notes. Neither the prospectus supplement nor the accompanying prospectus are not a prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation.

# United Kingdom

Each underwriter has represented and agreed that:

(a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (FSMA)) received by it connection with the issue or sale of the notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to us; and

S-33

# **Table of Contents**

(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the notes i from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

# Australia

No placement document, prospectus, product disclosure statement or other disclosure document has been lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission ("ASIC") in relation to the offering. This prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus do not constitute prospectus, product disclosure statement or other disclosure document under the prospectus, product disclosure statement or other disclosure document under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (the "Corporations Act"), and do not purport to include the information required for a prospectus, product disclosure statement or other disclosure document under the Corporations Act.

Any offer in Australia of the notes may only be made to persons (the "Exempt Investors") who are "sophisticated investors" (within the meaning of section 708(8) of the Corporations Act), "professional investors" (within the meaning of section 708(11) of the Corporations Act) or otherwise pursuant to one or more exemptions contained in section 708 of the Corporations Act so that it is lawful to offer the notes without disclosure to investor under Chapter 6D of the Corporations Act.

The notes applied for by Exempt Investors in Australia must not be offered for sale in Australia for a period of 12 months after the date allotment under the offering, except in circumstances where disclosure to investors under Chapter 6D of the Corporations Act would not be require pursuant to an exemption under section 708 of the Corporations Act or otherwise or where the offer is pursuant to a disclosure document which complish with Chapter 6D of the Corporations Act. Any person acquiring notes must observe such Australian on-sale restrictions.

This prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus contain general information only and do not take account of the investme objectives, financial situation or particular needs of any particular person. They do not contain any securities recommendations or financial product advice Before making an investment decision, investors need to consider whether the information in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus appropriate to their needs, objectives and circumstances, and, if necessary, seek expert advice on those matters.

#### Hong Kong

The notes may not be offered or sold in Hong Kong by means of any document other than (i) in circumstances which do not constitute an offeto the public within the meaning of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong ("Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance") or which do not constitute an invitation to the public within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ("Securities and Futures Ordinance") or (ii) to "professional investors" as define in the Securities and Futures Ordinance and any rules made thereunder, or (iii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, and no advertisement, invitation or document relating the notes may be issued or may be in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), which directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws Hong Kong) other than with respect to notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "profession investors" in Hong Kong as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance and any rules made thereunder.

# Japan

The notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, amended) (the "FIEA"). The notes may not be offered or sold, directly or

S-34

# **Table of Contents**

indirectly, in Japan or to or for the benefit of any resident of Japan (including any person resident in Japan or any corporation or other entity organize under the laws of Japan) or to others for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to or for the benefit of any resident of Japan, except pursua to an exemption from the registration requirements of the FIEA and otherwise in compliance with any relevant laws and regulations of Japan.

# Korea

The notes may not be offered, sold and delivered directly or indirectly, or offered or sold to any person for reoffering or resale, directly indirectly, in the Republic of Korea ("Korea") or to any resident of Korea except pursuant to the applicable laws and regulations of Korea, including the Korea Securities and Exchange Act and the Foreign Exchange Transaction Law and the decrees and regulations thereunder. The notes have not been are will not be registered with the Financial Services Commission of Korea for public offering in Korea. Furthermore, the notes may not be resold to Korea residents unless the purchaser of the notes complies with all applicable regulatory requirements (including but not limited to government approve requirements under the Foreign Exchange Transaction Law and its subordinate decrees and regulations) in connection with the purchase of the notes.

# Singapore

Neither this prospectus supplement nor the accompanying prospectus has been, and neither will be, registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each underwriter has not offered or sold any notes or caused such notes to be made the subject of a invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell such notes or cause such notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus or any oth document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of such notes, whether directly or indirectly, to person in Singapore, other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA and (where applicable) Regulation 3 of the Securities and Futures (Classes of Investor Regulations 2018, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where any notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 by a relevant person which is:

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investmen and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or

(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is a individual who is an accredited investor,

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiarie rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the note pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA, except:

- (i) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;
  - (ii) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
  - (iii) where the transfer is by operation of law;

S-35

#### **Table of Contents**

- (iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
- (v) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contract Regulations 2018.

Notification under Section 309B(1) of the SFA—The notes shall be prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities are Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

#### **Switzerland**

This prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus are not intended to constitute an offer or solicitation to purchase or invest in the notes. The notes may not be publicly offered, directly or indirectly, in Switzerland within the meaning of the Swiss Financial Services Act ("FinSA"), an no application has or will be made to admit the notes to trading on any trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland. Neither the prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the notes constitutes a prospectus pursuant the FinSA, and neither this prospectus supplement nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the notes may be publicly distributed otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland.

#### Taiwan

The notes have not been and will not be registered or filed with, or approved by, the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or are other regulatory authority of Taiwan pursuant to relevant securities laws and regulations and may not be sold, issued or offered within Taiwan through public offering or in circumstances which could constitute an offer within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange Act of Taiwan or relevant laws are regulations that require a registration, filing or approval of the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or other regulatory authority of Taiwan No person or entity in Taiwan has been authorized to offer or sell the notes in Taiwan.

# **United Arab Emirates**

The notes have not been, and are not being, publicly offered, sold, promoted or advertised in the United Arab Emirates (including the Ab Dhabi Global Market and the Dubai International Financial Centre) other than in compliance with the laws, regulations and rules of the United Ara Emirates, the Abu Dhabi Global Market and the Dubai International Financial Centre governing the issue, offering and sale of securities. Further, the prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus and any other offering or marketing material relating to the notes or the offering do not constitute public offer of securities in the United Arab Emirates (including the Abu Dhabi Global Market and the Dubai International Financial Centre) and are not intended to be a public offer. This prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus and any other offering or marketing material relating to the note or the offering have not been approved by or filed with the Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates, the Securities and Commodities Authority, the Financial Services Regulatory Authority or the Dubai Financial Services Authority.

S-36

#### **Table of Contents**

# INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE; WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference into this prospectus supplement the information in other documents that we file with it, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be a part of this prospectus supplement, and information in documents that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede information

contained in documents filed earlier with the SEC or contained in this prospectus supplement. We incorporate by reference in this prospectus supplement documents listed below:

- (a) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, filed with the SEC on February 25, 2020 (including information specifically incorporated by reference into the Annual Report from our Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14, filed with the SEC on March 12, 2020);
- (b) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2020, filed with the SEC on April 28, 2020; and
- (c) Current Reports on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 19, 2020 (two filings), February 20, 2020, April 6, 2020, April 2020, and April 29, 2020 (with respect to Item 5.07 only).

We are also incorporating by reference any future filings we make with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securitic Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), after the date of this prospectus supplement and prior to the consummation of the offering except that, unless otherwise indicated, we are not incorporating any information furnished under Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of any Current Report on For 8-K.

Any statement contained in this prospectus supplement or in a document (or part thereof) incorporated or considered to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement will be considered to be modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus supplement to the extent that statement contained in this prospectus supplement or in any other subsequently filed document (or part thereof) that is, or is considered to be, incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement modifies or supersedes that statement. The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it is modified or superseded a prior statement or include any other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. Any statement modified or superseded will not be considered, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute part of this prospectus supplement.

Copies of each of the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement (other than an exhibit to a filing unless that exhibit is specifically incorporated by reference into that filing) may be obtained at no cost, by writing or calling us at the following email and telephone number:

Ally Financial Inc.
Attention: Investor Relations
Email: investor.relations@ally.com
Tel: (866) 710-4623

Ally is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and in accordance therewith files reports and information statements are other information with the SEC. Ally's filings are electronically available from the SEC's Electronic Document Gathering and Retrieval System, which commonly known by the acronym "EDGAR," and which may be accessed at www.sec.gov, as well as from commercial document retrieval services.

S-37

#### **Table of Contents**

#### LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the notes offered pursuant to this prospectus supplement will be passed upon for Ally by Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP. Certa legal matters with respect to the notes offered hereby will be passed upon for the underwriters by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP.

# INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The consolidated financial statements of Ally, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and for each of the three years in the period ender December 31, 2019, incorporated in this prospectus supplement by reference from the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 2 2020, and the effectiveness of Ally's internal control over financial reporting, have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their reports, which are incorporated herein by reference from the aforementioned Form 10-K. Such consolidated financial statements have been so incorporated in reliance upon the reports of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

S-38

# **Table of Contents**

#### **PROSPECTUS**



# Ally Financial Inc.

# SENIOR NOTES SUBORDINATED NOTES PREFERRED STOCK

Ally Financial Inc. may offer from time to time senior notes, subordinated notes and preferred stock in one or more offerings.

We may offer and sell these securities to or through one or more underwriters, dealers or agents, or directly to investors, on a continuous or delayed basis. If we, directly or through agents, solicit offers to purchase the securities, we reserve the sole right to accept and, together with our agents, to reject, in whole or in part, any such offer. The applicable prospectus supplement will provide the names of any underwriters, dealers or agents, the specific terms of the plan of distribution and any applicable underwriting discounts and commissions. The securities offered by this prospectus, unless stated otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, will not be listed on any exchange, listing authority or quotation system.

Investing in the securities offered by this prospectus involves risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 2 of this prospectus and contained in our periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as well as the other information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

The securities offered by this prospectus will not be savings accounts, deposits or other obligations of any bank and will not be insured or guarantee by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is November 21, 2019

#### **Table of Contents**

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

About This Prospectus

Information Incorporated by Reference; Where You Can Find More Information

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

**Summary** 

**Risk Factors** 

<u>Use of Proceeds</u>

Description of Senior Notes

Description of Subordinated Notes

**Description of Preferred Stock** 

Book-Entry, Delivery and Form of Notes

Plan of Distribution

Validity of Securities

**Experts** 

We have not authorized anyone to provide any information other than that contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any prospectus supplement or in any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred you. We take no responsibility for, and can provide no assurance as to the reliability of, any other information that others may give you. We are not making an offer of these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted. You should not assume that the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this prospectus or an prospectus supplement or in any such free writing prospectus is accurate as of any date other than their respective dates.

References in this prospectus to "Ally," "the Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Ally Financial Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries on consolidated basis, unless the context otherwise requires.

i

#### **Table of Contents**

#### ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") utilizing a "shelf" registratio process. Under this shelf process, we may from time to time sell any combination of the securities described in this prospectus in one or more offerings. This prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities we may offer. Each time we sell securities, we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of that offering. The prospectus supplement may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. For the securities being sold, the prospectus supplement will include the names of the underwriters, dealers or agents, if any, their compensation, the terms of the offering, and the net proceeds to us. The prospectus supplement may also contain information about certain United States federal income tax considerations relating to the securities covered by the prospectus supplement. You should read both this prospectus and any prospectus supplement together with additional information described under the heading "Information Incorporated by Reference; Where You Can Find More Information."

ii

# **Table of Contents**

# INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE; WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" into this prospectus the information in other documents that we file with the SEC, which means the we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this prospectus, and information in documents that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede information contained in documents file earlier with the SEC or contained in this prospectus or a prospectus supplement. We incorporate by reference in this prospectus the documents listed below:

- (a) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018;
- (b) Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2019, and June 30, 2019, and September 30, 2019;
- (c) Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on <u>January 15, 2019</u>, <u>April 1, 2019</u>, <u>April 15, 2019</u>, <u>May 8, 2019</u> (excluding Item 7.01 and Exhibit 99.3 of Item 9.01), <u>May 21, 2019</u>, and <u>October 11, 2019</u>; and
- (d) Portions of the Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for the annual meeting of stockholders held on May 7, 2019, incorporated by reference in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.

We are also incorporating by reference all future filings we make with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14, or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), on or after the date of this prospectus and prior to the termination of the offering under this prospectus and any prospectus supplement, except that, unless otherwise indicated, we are not incorporating documents or information deemed to have been furnished an not filed in accordance with SEC rules.

Ally is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and, in accordance therewith, files reports and information statements and other information with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site at http://www.sec.gov, from which interested persons can electronically access our SEC filings, including the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part and the exhibits and schedules thereto. Information about us, including our SEC filings, is also available at our Internet site at http://www.ally.com. However, the information on our Internet site is not a part of this prospectus or any prospectus supplement.

You may also obtain a copy of any or all of the documents referred to above that may have been or may be incorporated by reference into this prospectus (excluding certain exhibits to the documents) at no cost to you by writing or telephoning us at the following address and telephone number:

Ally Financial Inc. Attention: Investor Relations 440 South Church Street, 14th Floor Charlotte, North Carolina 28202 Tel: (866) 710-4623

iii

#### **Table of Contents**

#### CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains or incorporates by reference documents containing various forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable federal securities laws, including the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, that are based upon our current expectations and assumptions concerning future events that are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated.

The words "expect," "anticipate," "estimate," "forecast," "initiative," "objective," "plan," "goal," "project," "outlook," "priorities," "target," "intend," "evaluate," "pursue," "seek," "may," "would," "could," "should," "believe," "potential," "continue," or the negative of any of these words or similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. All statements contained in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus, other than statements of historical fact, including without limitation statements about future events and financial performance, are forward-looking statements that involve certain risks and uncertainties.

While these statements represent our current judgment on what the future may hold, and we believe these judgments are reasonable, these statement are not guarantees of any events or financial results, and our actual results may differ materially due to numerous important factors that are described in Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, as updated by our subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and the other documents incorporated by reference herein. See "Information Incorporated by Reference; Where You Can Find More Information." Many of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions are beyond our control, and may cause our actual results and performance to differ materially from our expectations. Accordingly, you should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including those under "Risk Factors" in this prospectus, the applicable prospectus supplement and the documents incorporated by reference herein. Such forward-looking statements apply only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances that arise after the date the forward-looking statement made.

iv

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **SUMMARY**

This summary highlights some of the information contained, or incorporated by reference, in this prospectus. It does not contain all of the information that is important to you. Each time we offer securities, we will provide a prospectus supplement containing specific information about the terms of that offering. The prospectus supplement may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. You should read both this prospectus and any prospectus supplement containing specific information about the terms of that offering in their entirety, including the information incorporated by reference, to understand fully the terms of the securities, as well as the other considerations that are important to you in making your investment decision. You should pay special attention to the "Risk Factors" beginning on page 2 hereof or incorporated by reference herein as well as the section entitled "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" beginning on page iv.

#### Ally Financial Inc.

We are a leading digital financial-services company with \$181.5 billion in assets as of September 30, 2019. As a customer-centric company with passionate customer service and innovative financial solutions, we are relentlessly focused on "Doing It Right" and being a trusted financial-services provider to our consumer, commercial, and corporate customers. We are one of the largest full-service automotive-finance operations in the country and offer a wide range of financial services and insurance products to automotive dealerships and consumers. Our award-winning online bank (Ally Bank, Member FDIC and Equal Housing Lender) offers mortgage-lending services and a variety of deposit and other banking products, including savings, money-market, and checking accounts, certificates of deposit (CDs), and individual retirement accounts (IRAs). Additionally, we offer securities-brokerage and investment-advisory services through Ally Invest. Our robust corporate-finance business offers capital for equity

sponsors and middle-market companies.

Our principal executive offices are located at Ally Detroit Center, 500 Woodward Ave., Detroit, Michigan 48226, and our telephone number is (866) 710-4623.

#### **Securities Being Offered**

Ally has filed a registration statement with the SEC under a "shelf" registration procedure. Under this procedure, Ally may offer and sell from time to time, in one or more series, any one or a combination of the following securities:

- Senior Notes of Ally ("senior notes");
- Subordinated Notes of Ally ("subordinated notes"); and
- Shares of Preferred Stock of Ally ("preferred stock").

Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, the securities will be sold for, and amounts payable with respect to any such securities will be payable in, U.S. dollars.

1

#### **Table of Contents**

#### RISK FACTORS

Investing in the securities covered by this prospectus involves risk. Before making an investment decision, you should carefully consider the risks described under "Risk Factors" in the applicable prospectus supplement and in our then most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in any updates to those risk factors in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, together with all of the other information we include or incorporate by reference in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement. These risks could materially affect our business, results of operation or financial condition and cause the value of our securities to decline. You could lose all or part of your investment.

2

# **Table of Contents**

#### **USE OF PROCEEDS**

Unless otherwise indicated in a prospectus supplement, the net proceeds from the sale of the securities will be used for general corporate purposes, which may include working capital; reduction, retirement or refinancing of outstanding debt; capital expenditures; redemptions or repurchases of certain outstanding securities; and acquisitions and other business opportunities. Pending such applications, such proceeds may be temporarily invested in short-term marketable securities or applied to the reduction of short-term indebtedness.

3

## **Table of Contents**

# DESCRIPTION OF SENIOR NOTES

The following description of the terms of the senior notes provides general terms and provisions of the securities to which any prospectus supplement may relate. We will describe in any prospectus supplement the particular terms of the senior notes offered and the extent, if any, to which the general provisions apply to the senior notes.

In this description, references to "Ally," "we," "our," "ours," and "us" refer only to Ally Financial Inc. and not to any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries or affiliates, except as otherwise indicated.

#### General

Ally will issue the senior notes under the indenture dated as of July 1, 1982 (as amended by the first supplemental indenture dated as of April 1, 1986, the second supplemental indenture dated as of June 15, 1987, the third supplemental indenture dated as of September 30, 1996, the fourth supplemental indenture dated as of January 1, 1998, and the fifth supplemental indenture dated as of September 30, 1998, and together with such supplemental indentures, the "1982 Indenture") among Ally and The Bank of New York Mellon (successor to Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York), as trustee (the "Trustee"). Each series of senior notes will constitute a separate series of notes from those series previously issued under the 1982 Indenture. Those terms of a series of senior notes that differ from or that are in addition to the terms of the 1982 Indenture will be set forth in the resolutio or resolutions of the board of directors or the executive committee of Ally authorizing the issuance of the applicable series of senior notes. For the purpose of amending or modifying the 1982 Indenture, the holders of senior notes will generally vote as a single class with the holders of debt securities of all other series at the time outstanding under the 1982 Indenture (together, the "1982 Indenture Debt Securities").

The following description is a summary of certain provisions of the 1982 Indenture and the senior notes. It does not restate the 1982 Indenture or the senior notes in their entirety and is qualified in its entirety by reference to such documents. You may request copies of the 1982 Indenture at Ally's addresset forth under "Information Incorporated by Reference; Where You Can Find More Information."

Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, each series of senior notes will be issued in fully registered book-entry form without coupons in minimum denominations of \$1,000 principal amount and integral multiples of \$1,000 above that amount. Each series of senior notes will be issued in the form of global notes. Global notes will be registered in the name of a nominee of DTC, New York, New York, as described under "Book-Entry, Delivery and Form of Notes."

#### **Principal Amount; Maturity and Interest**

Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, each series of senior notes will be denominated in U.S. dollars and all payments of principal and interest thereon will be paid in U.S. dollars.

Each series of senior notes will bear interest at a fixed or floating rate or rates for the period or periods of time specified in the applicable prospectus supplement. Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, interest on a series of senior notes that bear interest at a fixed rate will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, and interest on a series of senior notes that bear interest at a floating rate will be computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed over a 360-day year.

With respect to senior notes that bear interest at a fixed rate, interest on each series of senior notes will accrue from and including the date such series of senior notes is issued (the "issue date") or from and including the most recent interest payment date (whether or not such interest payment date was a business day) for which interest has been paid or provided for to but excluding the relevant interest payment date. If an interest payment date falls on a dathat is not a business day, the interest payment will be postponed to the next succeeding business day, with the same force and effect as if made on the dat such payment was due, and no interest will accrue as a result of such delay.

4

# **Table of Contents**

With respect to senior notes that bear interest at a floating rate, interest on each series of senior notes will accrue from and including the issue date of from and including the most recent interest payment date. If an interest payment date falls on a day that is not a business day, the interest payment will be postponed to the next succeeding business day, except that if that business day is in the immediately succeeding calendar month, the interest payment will be made on the next preceding business day, in each case with interest accruing to the applicable interest payment date (as so adjusted). If the maturity day or a redemption date, if applicable, of a senior note that bears interest at a floating rate falls on a day that is not a business day, the payment of interest and principal will be made on the next succeeding business day, but no additional interest shall accrue and be paid unless Ally fails to make a payment on succeeding business day.

#### No Guarantees

None of Ally's subsidiaries will guarantee the senior notes.

# Ranking

The senior notes will rank equally in right of payment with all existing and future unsubordinated unsecured indebtedness of Ally, including all 198 Indenture Debt Securities, and senior in right of payment to existing and future indebtedness of Ally that by its terms is expressly subordinated to the senior notes. The senior notes will be effectively subordinated to any secured indebtedness of Ally to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt.

The senior notes will be structurally subordinated to all of the existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables and

lease obligations and, in the case of Ally Bank, its deposits) of each of Ally's subsidiaries to the extent of the value of the assets of such subsidiaries.

#### Redemption

Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, the applicable series of senior notes will not be subject to redemption prior to maturity and there will be no sinking fund for such senior notes.

#### **Certain Covenants**

#### Limitation on Liens

The 1982 Indenture provides that Ally will not pledge or otherwise subject to any lien any of its property or assets unless the senior notes are secure by such pledge or lien equally and ratably with any and all other obligations and indebtedness secured thereby so long as any such other obligations and indebtedness shall be so secured. This covenant does not apply to:

- the pledge of any assets to secure any financing by Ally of the exporting of goods to or between, or the marketing thereof in, foreign countrie
  (other than Canada), in connection with which Ally reserves the right, in accordance with customary and established banking practice, to
  deposit, or otherwise subject to a lien, cash, securities or receivables, for the purpose of securing banking accommodations or as the basis for
  the issuance of bankers' acceptances or in aid of other similar borrowing arrangements;
- the pledge of receivables payable in foreign currencies (other than Canadian dollars) to secure borrowings in foreign countries (other than Canada);
- any deposit of assets of Ally with any surety company or clerk of any court, or in escrow, as collateral in connection with, or in lieu of, any bond on appeal by Ally from any judgment or decree against it, or in connection with other proceedings in actions at law or in equity by or against Ally;
- any lien or charge on any property, tangible or intangible, real or personal, existing at the time of acquisition of such property (including acquisition through merger or consolidation) or given to secure

5

# **Table of Contents**

the payment of all or any part of the purchase price thereof or to secure any indebtedness incurred prior to, at the time of, or within 60 days after, the acquisition thereof for the purpose of financing all or any part of the purchase price thereof; and

• any extension, renewal or replacement (or successive extensions, renewals or replacements), in whole or in part, of any lien, charge or pledg referred to in the foregoing four clauses of this paragraph; provided, however, that the amount of any and all obligations and indebtedness secured thereby shall not exceed the amount thereof so secured immediately prior to the time of such extension, renewal or replacement and that such extension, renewal or replacement shall be limited to all or a part of the property which secured the charge or lien so extended, renewed or replaced (plus improvements on such property).

# Merger and Consolidation

The 1982 Indenture provides that Ally will not merge or consolidate with another corporation or sell or convey all or substantially all of Ally's asset to another person, firm or corporation unless either Ally is the continuing corporation or the successor corporation (if other than Ally) shall be a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or a state thereof and such corporation shall expressly assume the interest and principal (and premium, if any) due under the 1982 Indenture Debt Securities and the performance and observance of all applicable conditions and covenants. In either case, the 1982 Indenture provides that neither Ally nor a successor corporation may be in default of performance immediately after such merger or consolidation or sale or conveyance. Additionally, the 1982 Indenture provides that in the case of any such merger or consolidation or sale or conveyance, the successor corporation may continue to issue securities under the 1982 Indenture.

#### SEC Reports and Reports to Holders

Ally will be required to file with the Trustee within fifteen days after Ally is required to file the same with the SEC, copies of the annual reports and of the information, documents and other reports (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the SEC may from time to time by rules and regulations prescribe) which Ally may be required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; or, if Ally is not required to file information, documents or reports pursuant to either of such sections, then to file with the Trustee and the SEC, in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed from time to time by the SEC, such of the supplementary and periodic information, documents and reports which may be required pursuant to Section 13 of the Exchange Act in respect of a security listed and registered on a national securities exchange as may be prescribed from time to time in such rules and regulations. In addition, Ally will be required to file with the Trustee and the SEC, in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed from time to time by the SEC, such additional information, documents and reports with respect to compliance by Ally with the conditions and covenants provided for in the 1982 Indenture as may be required from time to time by such rules and regulations.

#### Modification of the 1982 Indenture

The 1982 Indenture contains provisions permitting Ally and the Trustee to modify or amend the 1982 Indenture or any supplemental Indenture or the rights of the holders of the 1982 Indenture Debt Securities issued, with the consent of the holders of not less than 66 2/3% in aggregate principal amount of the 1982 Indenture Debt Securities which are affected by such modification or amendment, voting as one class, provided that, without the consent of the holder of each 1982 Indenture Debt Security so affected, no such modification shall:

• extend the fixed maturity of any 1982 Indenture Debt Securities, or reduce the principal amount thereof, or premium, if any, or reduce the rai or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, without the consent of the holder of each 1982 Indenture Debt Security so affected; or

6

#### **Table of Contents**

• reduce the aforesaid percentage of 1982 Indenture Debt Securities, the consent of the holders of which is required for any such modification, without the consent of the holders of all 1982 Indenture Debt Securities then outstanding under the 1982 Indenture.

The 1982 Indenture contains provisions permitting Ally and the Trustee to enter into indentures supplemental to the 1982 Indenture, without the consent of the holders of the 1982 Indenture Debt Securities at the time outstanding, for one or more of the following purposes:

- to evidence the succession of another corporation to Ally, or successive successions, and the assumption by any successor corporation of certain covenants, agreements and obligations;
- to add to the covenants such further covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions as Ally's board of directors and the Trustee shall consider to be for the protection of the holders of 1982 Indenture Debt Securities;
- to permit or facilitate the issuance of 1982 Indenture Debt Securities in coupon form, registrable or not registrable as to principal, and to provide for exchangeability of such securities with securities issued thereunder in fully registered form;
- to cure any ambiguity or to correct or supplement any provision contained therein or in any supplemental indenture which may be defective or inconsistent with any other provision contained therein or in any supplemental indenture; to convey, transfer, assign, mortgage or pledge any property to or with the Trustee; or to make such other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising under the 1982 Indenture as shall not adversely affect the interests of the holders of any 1982 Indenture Debt Securities; or
- to evidence and provide for the acceptance and appointment by a successor trustee.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, holders of a particular series of senior notes shall vote as a separate class with respect to amendments, modifications or waivers affecting only that series of senior notes and the holders of other 1982 Indenture Debt Securities shall not have any voting rights with respect to such matters as they relate to that series of senior notes.

#### **Events of Default**

An event of default with respect to a series of senior notes is defined in the 1982 Indenture as being (the "Events of Default"):

- default in payment of any principal or premium, if any;
- default for 30 days in payment of any interest;
- default in the performance of any other covenant in the 1982 Indenture or such series of senior notes for 30 days after notice by the Trustee o holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of such senior notes at the time outstanding; or
- certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization with respect to Ally.

In case any of the first, second or third Events of Default above shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the 1982 Indenture Debt Securities affected thereby then outstanding may declare the principal amount of all of the 1982 Indenture Debt Securities affected thereby to be due and payable. In case an event of default as set out in the fourth Event of Default above shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of all the 1982 Indenture Debt Securities then outstanding, voting as one class, may declare the principal of all outstanding 1982 Indenture Debt Securities to be due and payable. Any Event of Default may be waived and a declaration of acceleration of payment rescinded by the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the applicable

7

# **Table of Contents**

series of senior notes, or of all the outstanding 1982 Indenture Debt Securities, as the case may be, if sums sufficient to pay all amounts due (with interest, any) other than amounts due upon acceleration are provided to the Trustee and all defaults are remedied. For such purposes, if the principal of all series of 1982 Indenture Debt Securities shall have been declared to be payable, all series will be treated as a single class. Ally is required to file with the Trustee annually an officers' certificate as to the absence of certain defaults under the terms of the 1982 Indenture. The 1982 Indenture provides that the Trustee may withhold notice to the securityholders of any default, except in payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest, if it considers it in the interest of the securityholders to do so.

The holders of a series of senior notes shall vote as a separate class from the holders of the other 1982 Indenture Debt Securities with respect to any defaults or events of default or remedies relating thereto as a result of any covenants, obligations or provisions affecting only such series of senior notes are no other series of 1982 Indenture Debt Securities.

Subject to the provisions of the 1982 Indenture relating to the duties of the Trustee in case an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the 1982 Indenture at the request, order or direction of any of the securityholders, unless such securityholders shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred.

Subject to such provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and to certain other limitations, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the 1982 Indenture Debt Securities affected shall have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee.

# Satisfaction and Discharge

The 1982 Indenture shall cease to be of further effect with respect to a series of senior notes if at any time (a) Ally shall have delivered to the Truste for cancellation all senior notes of such series theretofore authenticated (other than any senior notes of such series which shall have been destroyed, lost or stolen and which shall have been replaced or paid), or (b) all such senior notes of such series not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation shall have become due and payable, or are by their terms to become due and payable within one year or are to be called for redemption within one year under arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of notice of redemption, and Ally shall deposit or cause to be deposited with the Trustee as trust funds the entire amount (other than moneys repaid by the Trustee or any paying agent to Ally) sufficient to pay at maturity or upon redemption all senior notes of such series not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, including principal (and premium, if any) and interest due or to become due such date of maturity or date fixed for redemption, as the case may be, and if in either case Ally shall also pay or cause to be paid all other sums payable under the 1982 Indenture by Ally with respect to the senior notes of such series.

All such moneys deposited with the Trustee shall be held in trust and applied by it to the payment, either directly or through any paying agent (including Ally acting as its own paying agent), to the holders of the applicable series of senior notes for the payment or redemption of which such money have been deposited with the Trustee, of all sums due and to become due thereon for principal and interest (and premium, if any).

#### **Further Issues**

Ally may from time to time, without notice to or the consent of the registered holders of any series of senior notes, create and issue further notes ranking equally with the existing series of senior notes in all respects, or in all respects except for the payment of interest accruing prior to the issue date of such further notes or except for the first payment of interest following the issue date of such further notes. Such further notes may be consolidated and form a single series with a particular series of existing senior notes and have the same terms as to status, redemption or otherwise as such senior notes.

8

# **Table of Contents**

#### **Concerning the Trustee**

The Trustee will be designated by Ally as the initial paying agent, transfer agent and registrar with respect to each series of senior notes. The Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee is currently located at 240 Greenwich Street, Floor 7W, New York, N.Y. 10286, U.S.A., Attention: Corporate Trust Administration.

The 1982 Indenture provides that the Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default of a series of senior notes and after the curing of all suc Events of Default of such series which may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in the 1982 Indenture. If any such Event of Default has occurred (which has not been cured) with respect to a particular series of senior notes, the Trustee will use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise of the rights and powers vested in it by the 1982 Indenture as a prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs. The 1982 Indenture also provides that the Trustee or any agent of Ally or the Trustee, in their individual of any other capacity, may become the owner or pledgee of senior notes with the same rights it would have if it were not the Trustee or agent; provided, however, that all moneys received by the Trustee or any paying agent shall, until used or applied as provided in the 1982 Indenture, be held in trust

thereunder for the purposes for which they were received and need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.

#### **Governing Law and Consent to Jurisdiction**

The 1982 Indenture is and the senior notes will be governed by and will be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

Q

#### **Table of Contents**

#### DESCRIPTION OF SUBORDINATED NOTES

The following description of the terms of the subordinated notes provides general terms and provisions of the securities to which any prospectus supplement may relate. We will describe in any prospectus supplement the particular terms of the subordinated notes offered and the extent, if any, to which the general provisions apply to the subordinated notes.

In this description, references to "Ally," "we," "our," "ours," and "us" refer only to Ally Financial Inc. and not to any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries or affiliates, except as otherwise indicated.

#### General

Ally will issue subordinated notes under the indenture dated as of November 20, 2015 (as it may be amended from time to time, the "Subordinated Indenture") between Ally and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (the "Trustee"). Each series of subordinated notes will constitute a separate series of notes from those previously issued under the Subordinated Indenture. Those terms of a series of subordinated notes that differ from or that are in addition to the terms of the Subordinated Indenture will be set forth in the resolution or resolutions of the board of directors or the executive committee of Ally authorizing the issuance of the applicable series of subordinated notes. For the purposes of amending or modifying the Subordinated Indenture, the holders of subordinated notes will generally vote as a single class with the holders of subordinated debt securities of all other series at the time outstanding under the Subordinated Indenture (together, the "Subordinated Debt Securities").

The following description is a summary of certain provisions of the Subordinated Indenture and the subordinated notes. It does not restate the Subordinated Indenture or the subordinated notes in their entirety and is qualified in its entirety by reference to such documents. You may request copies of the Subordinated Indenture at Ally's address set forth under "Information Incorporated by Reference; Where You Can Find More Information."

Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, the subordinated notes will be issued in fully registered book-entry form without coupons in minimum denominations of \$1,000 principal amount and integral multiples of \$1,000 above that amount. Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, each series of subordinated notes will be issued in the form of global notes. Global notes will be registered in the name of a nominee of DTC, New York, New York, as described under "Book-Entry, Delivery and Form of Notes."

# **Principal Amount; Maturity and Interest**

Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, each series of subordinated notes will be denominated in U.S. dollars and all payments of principal and interest thereon will be paid in U.S. dollars.

Each series of subordinated notes will bear interest at a fixed or floating rate or rates for the period or periods of time specified in the applicable prospectus supplement. Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, interest on a series of subordinated notes that bear interest at a fixed rate will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, and interest on a series of subordinated notes that bear interest at a floating rate will be computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed over a 360-day year.

With respect to subordinated notes that bear interest at a fixed rate, interest on each series of subordinated notes will accrue from and including the date such series of subordinated notes are issued (the "issue date") or from and including the most recent interest payment date (whether or not such interest payment date was a business day) for which interest has been paid or provided for with respect to such subordinated notes to but

10

# **Table of Contents**

excluding the relevant interest payment date. If an interest payment date falls on a day that is not a business day, the interest payment will be postponed to the next succeeding business day, with the same force and effect as if made on the date such payment was due, and no interest will accrue as a result of such delay.

#### 424B2

With respect to subordinated notes that bear interest at a floating rate, interest on each series of subordinated notes will accrue from and including the issue date or from and including the most recent interest payment date. If an interest payment date falls on a day that is not a business day, the interest payment will be postponed to the next succeeding business day, except that if that business day is in the immediately succeeding calendar month, the interest payment will be made on the next preceding business day, in each case with interest accruing to the applicable interest payment date (as so adjusted). If the maturity date or a redemption date, if applicable, of a subordinated note that bears interest at a floating rate falls on a day that is not a business day, the payment of interest and principal will be made on the next succeeding business day, but no additional interest shall accrue and be paid unless Ally fails to make a payment on such next succeeding business day.

#### No Guarantee

None of Ally's subsidiaries will guarantee the subordinated notes.

#### Ranking

The subordinated notes will rank equally in right of payment with all existing and future unsecured Indebtedness Ranking on a Parity (as defined below) of Ally with the subordinated notes, junior in right of payment to all existing and future Senior Indebtedness (as defined below) of Ally and senior in right of payment to any of Ally's existing and future Indebtedness Ranking Junior to the Subordinated Debt Securities (as defined below). The subordinated notes will be effectively subordinated to any secured indebtedness of Ally to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt. As of September 30, 2019, the Company had approximately \$42.1 billion in principal amount of total debt outstanding, consisting of \$15.6 billion and \$26.5 billion in principal amount of unsecured and secured debt, respectively, of which \$38.4 billion in principal amount would have ranked senior in right of payment to the subordinated notes.

The subordinated notes will be structurally subordinated to all of the existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables and lease obligations and, in the case of Ally Bank, its deposits) of subsidiaries of Ally to the extent of the value of the assets of such subsidiaries.

#### **Subordination to Senior Indebtedness**

Ally's obligation to make any payment on account of the principal of, or premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the subordinated notes will be subordinated and junior in right of payment to Ally's obligations to the holders of its Senior Indebtedness to the extent described herein.

In the case of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, conservatorship, reorganization, readjustment of debt, marshaling of assets and liabilities or similar proceedings or any liquidation or dissolution or winding up involving Ally, whether voluntary or involuntary, all of Ally's obligations to holders of its Senior Indebtedness will be entitled to be paid in full before any payment, whether in cash, property, or otherwise, can be made on account of the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest, if any, on the Subordinated Debt Securities, including the subordinated notes. In the event and during the continuation of any default in the payment of principal of, or premium, if any, or interest, if any, on, any Senior Indebtedness beyond any applicable grace period, or in the event that any event of default with respect to any Senior Indebtedness has occurred and is continuing, or would occur as a result of certai payments, permitting the holders of the relevant Senior Indebtedness (or a trustee on behalf of the holders thereof) to accelerate its maturity, then, unless and until Ally cures the default or event of default or event of default is waived or ceases to exist, Ally will not make any payment of the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest, if any, on the Subordinated Debt Securities, including the subordinated notes, or in respect of any redemption, exchange, retirement, purchase or other acquisition of any of the Subordinated Debt Securities, including the subordinated notes.

11

# **Table of Contents**

By reason of the above subordination in favor of the holders of Ally's Senior Indebtedness, in the event of Ally's bankruptcy or insolvency, holders of Ally's Senior Indebtedness may receive more, ratably, and holders of the subordinated notes having a claim pursuant to the subordinated notes may receive less, ratably, than Ally's other creditors.

The Subordinated Indenture places no limitation on the amount of additional Senior Indebtedness that may be incurred by Ally. Ally expects from time to time to incur additional indebtedness constituting Senior Indebtedness.

#### Redemption

Unless we state otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, the applicable series of subordinated notes will not be subject to redemption price to maturity and there will be no sinking fund for such subordinated notes. No redemption or early redemption, if applicable, of amounts owed under any series of subordinated notes may be made without the prior written consent of the Federal Reserve.

# **Certain Covenants**

Merger and Consolidation

#### 424B2

The Subordinated Indenture provides that Ally will not merge or consolidate with another corporation or sell or convey all or substantially all of Ally's assets to another person, firm or corporation unless either Ally is the continuing corporation or the successor corporation (if other than Ally) shall be a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or a state thereof and such corporation shall expressly assume the interest and principal (and premium, if any) due under the subordinated notes and the performance and observance of all applicable conditions and covenants. In either case, the Subordinated Indenture provides that neither Ally nor a successor corporation may be in default of performance immediately after such merger or consolidation or sale or conveyance. Additionally, the Subordinated Indenture provides that in the case of any such merger or consolidation or sale or conveyance, the successor corporation may continue to issue securities under the Subordinated Indenture.

#### SEC Reports and Reports to Holders

Ally will be required to file with the Trustee within fifteen days after Ally is required to file the same with the SEC, copies of the annual reports and of the information, documents and other reports (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the SEC may from time to time by rules and regulations prescribe) which Ally may be required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; or, if Ally is not required to file information, documents or reports pursuant to either of such sections, then to file with the Trustee and the SEC, in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed from time to time by the SEC, such of the supplementary and periodic information, documents and reports which may be required pursuant to Section 13 of the Exchange Act in respect of a security listed and registered on a national securities exchange as may be prescribed from time to time in such rules and regulations. In addition, Ally will be required to file with the Trustee and the SEC, in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed from time to time by the SEC, such additional information, documents and reports with respect to compliance by Ally with the conditions and covenants provided for in the Subordinated Indenture as may be required from time to time by such rules and regulations. Ally has also agreed that, for so long as any notes remain outstanding during any period when it is not subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or otherwise permitted to furnish the SEC with certain information pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) of the Exchange Act, it will furnish to the holders of the subordinated notes and to prospective investors, upon their request, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

12

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Modification of the Subordinated Indenture**

The Subordinated Indenture contains provisions permitting Ally and the Trustee to modify or amend the Subordinated Indenture or any supplemental indenture or the rights of the holders of the Subordinated Debt Securities issued, with the consent of the holders of not less than 662/3% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Subordinated Debt Securities which are affected by such modification or amendment, voting as one class, provided that, without the consent of the holder of each Subordinated Debt Security so affected, no such modification shall:

- extend the fixed maturity of any Subordinated Debt Securities, or reduce the principal amount thereof, or premium, if any, or reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, without the consent of the holder of each Subordinated Debt Security so affected;
- reduce the aforesaid percentage of Subordinated Debt Securities, the consent of the holders of which is required for any such modification, without the consent of the holders of all Subordinated Debt Securities then outstanding under the Subordinated Indenture; or
- make any change to the "Miscellaneous Provisions" of the Subordinated Indenture that would adversely affect the holders of all Subordinated Debt Securities then outstanding without the consent of each holder so affected.

The Subordinated Indenture further provides that, in determining whether the holders of the requisite principal amount of a series of subordinated notes outstanding have performed any act under the Subordinated Indenture, subordinated notes of such series owned by the Company or any other obligo upon the subordinated notes of such series or any affiliate of the Company or of such other obligor shall be disregarded and deemed not to be outstanding, except that, in determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying upon any such act, only subordinated notes of such series that the Trustee knows to be so owned shall be so disregarded.

without the consent of the holders of the Subordinated Debt Securities at the time outstanding, for one or more of the following purposes:

• to evidence the succession of another corporation to Ally, or successive successions, and the assumption by any successor corporation of certain covenants, agreements and obligations;

The Subordinated Indenture contains provisions permitting Ally and the Trustee to enter into indentures supplemental to the Subordinated Indenture

- to add to the covenants such further covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions as Ally's board of directors and the Trustee shall consider to be for the protection of the holders of Subordinated Debt Securities;
- to permit or facilitate the issuance of Subordinated Debt Securities in coupon form, registrable or not registrable as to principal, and to provide for exchangeability of such securities with securities issued thereunder in fully registered form;
- to cure any ambiguity or to correct or supplement any provision contained therein or in any supplemental indenture which may be defective or inconsistent with any other provision contained therein or in any supplemental indenture; to convey, transfer, assign, mortgage or pledge

any property to or with the Trustee; or to make such other provisions in regard to matters or questions arising under the Subordinated Indenture as shall not be inconsistent with any provision of the Subordinated Indenture, provided that such other provisions shall not adversely affect the interests of the holders of any Subordinated Debt Securities of any series;

- to evidence and provide for the acceptance and appointment by a successor trustee; or
- to effect certain other limited purposes described in the Subordinated Indenture.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, holders of a particular series of subordinated notes shall vote as a separate class with respect to amendments, modifications or waivers affecting only that series of subordinated notes and

13

#### **Table of Contents**

the holders of other Subordinated Debt Securities shall not have any voting rights with respect to such matters as they relate to that series of subordinated notes.

#### **Events of Default**

The only Events of Default under the Subordinated Indenture with respect to the subordinated notes will be certain events in bankruptcy, receivership or insolvency involving us.

In case an "Event of Default" with respect to the subordinated notes as a result of bankruptcy, receivership, insolvency or reorganization involving to shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of all the Subordinated Debt Securities then outstanding, voting as one class, may declare the principal of all outstanding Subordinated Debt Securities to be due and payable. An Event of Default may be waived and a declaration of acceleration of payment rescinded by the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the subordinated notes, or all the outstanding Subordinated Debt Securities, as the case may be, if sums sufficient to pay all amounts due (with interest, if any) other than amounts due upon acceleration are provided to the Trustee and all defaults are remedied. For such purposes, if the principal of all series of Subordinated Debt Securities shall have been declared to be payable, all series will be treated as a single class.

The application of the foregoing paragraph and any other rights under the Subordinated Indenture would, in the event of the bankruptcy or insolvence involving us, be subject to applicable bankruptcy law (including, for example, the automatic stay imposed under U.S. federal bankruptcy law) and to the broad equity powers of a federal bankruptcy court, including, among other things, a determination by a court of the nature and status of the payment of claims in respect of the subordinated notes. At any time after a declaration of acceleration with respect to the subordinated notes has been made, but before a judgment or decree for payment of the money due has been obtained, the holders of a majority in principal amount of outstanding notes may, under certain circumstances, rescind and annul the acceleration but only if all Defaults have been remedied, or, if permitted, waived, and if certain other conditions have been satisfied.

The following events will be "Defaults" under the Subordinated Indenture with respect to the subordinated notes:

- default in payment of any principal or premium, if any, with respect to the subordinated notes;
- default for 30 days in payment of any interest with respect to the subordinated notes; or
- default in the performance of any other covenant in the Subordinated Indenture or the subordinated notes for 30 days after notice by the Trustee or holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the subordinated notes at the time outstanding.

The maturity of each series of subordinated notes will be subject to acceleration only upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. There will be no right of acceleration upon the occurrence of any Default other than an Event of Default. If a Default with respect to a series of subordinated notes occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may, subject to certain limitations and conditions, seek to enforce its rights and the rights of the holders of such subordinated notes (including, without limitation, the right to timely payment of interest) or the performance of any covenant or agreement in the Subordinated Indenture, including by instituting a judicial proceeding for the collection of sums due and unpaid. The Subordinated Indenture provides that any judgmen received in respect of any obligation in respect of a series of subordinated notes will be subordinated to the same extent as any other right to payment under such subordinated notes.

The holders of a series of subordinated notes shall vote as a separate class from the holders of the other Subordinated Debt Securities with respect to any Defaults or remedies relating thereto as a result of any covenants, obligations or provisions affecting only such series of subordinated notes and no other series of Subordinated Debt Securities.

#### **Table of Contents**

Subject to the provisions of the Subordinated Indenture relating to the duties of the Trustee in case of a Default or Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the Subordinated Indenture at the request, order or direction of any of the securityholders, unless such securityholders shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred.

Subject to such provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and to certain other limitations, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Subordinated Debt Securities affected shall have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee.

Ally is required to file with the Trustee annually an officers' certificate as to the absence of certain defaults under the terms of the Subordinated Indenture. The Subordinated Indenture provides that the Trustee may withhold notice to the securityholders of any default, except in payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest, if it considers it in the interest of the securityholders to do so.

#### Satisfaction and Discharge

The Subordinated Indenture shall cease to be of further effect with respect to a series of subordinated notes if at any time (a) Ally shall have delivered to the Trustee for cancellation all subordinated notes of such series theretofore authenticated (other than any subordinated notes of such series which shall have been destroyed, lost or stolen and which shall have been replaced or paid), or (b) all such subordinated notes of such series not theretofor delivered to the Trustee for cancellation shall have become due and payable, or are by their terms to become due and payable within one year or are to be called for redemption within one year under arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of notice of redemption, and Ally shall deposit or caus to be deposited with the Trustee as trust funds the entire amount (other than moneys repaid by the Trustee or any paying agent to Ally) sufficient to pay at maturity or upon redemption all subordinated notes of such series not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, including principal (and premium, if any) and interest due or to become due to such date of maturity or date fixed for redemption, as the case may be, and if in either case Ally shallso pay or cause to be paid all other sums payable under the Subordinated Indenture by Ally with respect to the subordinated notes of such series.

All such moneys deposited with the Trustee shall be held in trust and applied by it to the payment, either directly or through any paying agent (including Ally acting as its own paying agent), to the holders of the applicable series of subordinated notes for the payment or redemption of which such moneys have been deposited with the Trustee, of all sums due and to become due thereon for principal and interest (and premium, if any).

#### **Further Issues**

Ally may from time to time, without notice to or the consent of the registered holders of any series of subordinated notes, create and issue further notes ranking equally with the existing series of subordinated notes in all respects, or in all respects except for the payment of interest accruing prior to the issue date of such further notes or except for the first payment of interest following the issue date of such further notes. Such further notes may be consolidated and form a single series with a particular series of existing subordinated notes and have the same terms as to status, redemption or otherwise as subordinated notes.

# **Concerning the Trustee**

The Trustee for the subordinated notes will be designated by Ally as the initial paying agent, transfer agent and registrar with respect to each series of subordinated notes. The Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee is currently located at 240 Greenwich Street, Floor 7W, New York, N.Y. 10286, U.S.A., Attention: Corporate Trust Administration.

15

#### **Table of Contents**

The Subordinated Indenture provides that the Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default of the subordinated notes and after the curing of all such Events of Default of the subordinated notes which may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in the Subordinated Indenture. If any such Event of Default has occurred (which has not been cured) with respect to a particular series of subordinated notes, the Trustee will use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise of the rights and powers vested in it by the Subordinated Indenture as a prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs. The Subordinated Indenture also provides that the Trustee or any agent of Ally or the Trustee, in their individual or any other capacity, may become the owner or pledgee of subordinated notes with the sam rights it would have if it were not the Trustee or agent; provided, however, that all moneys received by the Trustee or any paying agent shall, until used or applied as provided in the Subordinated Indenture, be held in trust thereunder for the purposes for which they were received and need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.

# **Governing Law and Consent to Jurisdiction**

424B2

The Subordinated Indenture is and the subordinated notes will be governed by and will be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Nev York.

#### **Certain Definitions**

"Indebtedness for Money Borrowed" means:

- any obligation of ours, or any obligation guaranteed by Ally, for the repayment of borrowed money, whether or not evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other written instruments;
- similar obligations arising from off-balance sheet guarantees and direct credit substitutes;
- obligations associated with derivative products, such as interest-rate and foreign-exchange-rate contracts, commodity contracts and similar arrangements; and
- any deferred obligations for the payment of the purchase price of property or assets.

"Indebtedness Ranking Junior to the Subordinated Debt Securities" means any of Ally's Indebtedness for Money Borrowed, whether outstanding of the date of execution of the Subordinated Indenture or thereafter created, assumed or incurred, which specifically by its terms ranks junior to and not equally with or prior to Ally's subordinated notes (and any other Indebtedness Ranking on a Parity with Ally's Subordinated Debt Securities) in right of payment upon the happening of any event of bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, conservatorship, reorganization, readjustment of debt, marshaling of assets and liabilities or similar proceedings or any liquidation or dissolution or winding-up involving Ally, whether voluntary or involuntary.

"Indebtedness Ranking on a Parity" with the Subordinated Debt Securities means Ally's Indebtedness for Money Borrowed, whether outstanding of the date of execution of the Subordinated Indenture or thereafter created, assumed or incurred, which specifically by its terms ranks equally with and not prior to our Subordinated Debt Securities in the right of payment upon the happening of any event of the kind specified in the case of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, conservatorship, reorganization, readjustment of debt, marshaling of assets and liabilities or similar proceedings or any liquidation or dissolution or winding-up involving Ally, whether voluntary or involuntary.

"Senior Indebtedness" means Ally's Indebtedness for Money Borrowed, whether outstanding on the date of execution of the Subordinated Indenture or thereafter created, assumed or incurred, except Indebtedness Ranking on a Parity with the Subordinated Debt Securities or Indebtedness Ranking Junior to the Subordinated Debt Securities. Senior Indebtedness also includes any deferrals, renewals or extensions of the Senior Indebtedness.

16

#### **Table of Contents**

#### DESCRIPTION OF PREFERRED STOCK

As of the date of this prospectus, the authorized capital stock of Ally Financial Inc. consists of 1,400,000,000 shares of capital stock, of which 1,100,000,000 shares are shares of common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, and 300,000,000 shares are shares of preferred stock, \$0.01 par value per share, issuable in series.

As of November 1, 2019, 380,068,995 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding. No shares of preferred stock were issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2019.

To the extent authorized, we may issue preferred stock under the currently existing series of preferred stock. In addition, we may issue new series of preferred stock.

The following discussion of the material provisions of the preferred stock, Ally's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws are qualified in their entirety by reference to such Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, copies of which have been incorporated by reference as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

Ally may issue shares of preferred stock in one or more series, either separately, or together with, or upon the conversion of or in exchange for, othe securities. When Ally offers to sell a particular series of preferred stock, Ally will describe the specific terms of such preferred stock in a supplement to this prospectus. The preferred stock will be issued under a certificate of designation, which forms, or will form, a part of Ally's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation at the time such preferred stock is issued. The form of articles of amendment relating to the certificate of designation of a serie of preferred stock will be incorporated by reference in the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. The terms of the preferred stock offered by any prospectus supplement may differ from the general terms set forth in this prospectus.

If Ally offers preferred stock, the terms of any particular series of preferred stock, including preferred stock to be represented by depositary shares, will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement, including (where applicable) the voting rights (if any), designations, powers, preferences, and the relative, participating, optional or other rights (in each case, if any), and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions of any unissued series of preferred stock to be represented by depositary shares, will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement, including (where applicable) the voting rights (if any), designations, powers, preferences, and the relative, participating, optional or other rights (in each case, if any), and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions of any unissued series of preferred

#### 424B2

stock. The applicable prospectus supplement will also describe any restrictions to which the preferred stock being offered will be subject pursuant to the terms of Ally's then-outstanding capital stock.

The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, adversely affect the voting power of the holders of common stock and, under certain circumstances, make it more difficult for a third party to gain control of Ally or to remove present management and could have the effect of delaying or preventing a merger, tender offer or other attempted takeover of Ally. No holder of preferred stock will be entitled, as a matter of right, to subscribe for or purchase any shares of preferred stock or common stock.

Any preferred stock that we issue will, when issued, be fully-paid and non-assessable. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, any series of offered preferred stock will rank, with respect to dividends and the distribution of assets, senior to common stock, and on a parit with shares of any other then outstanding series of preferred stock. Therefore, any preferred stock that may subsequently be issued may limit the rights of the holders of our common stock and preferred stock. In addition, under certain circumstances, preferred stock could also restrict dividend payments to our holders of common stock.

The transfer agent and registrar for a series of preferred stock will be named in the applicable prospectus supplement.

17

#### **Table of Contents**

# **BOOK-ENTRY, DELIVERY AND FORM OF NOTES**

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable prospectus supplement and except as set forth below, debt securities described in this prospectus ("notes") and the applicable prospectus supplement will be issued in registered, global form without coupons in minimum denominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof (the "Global Notes"). The Global Notes will be deposited upon issuance with the Trustee, as custodian for DTC, in New York, New York, and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, in each case for credit to an account of a direct or indirect participant in DTC as described below.

Except as set forth below, the Global Notes may be transferred, in whole and not in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or its nominee. Beneficial interests in the Global Notes may not be exchanged for notes in certificated form except in the limited circumstances described below. See "—Exchange of Book-Entry Notes for Certificated Notes." Except in the limited circumstances described below, owners of beneficial interest in the Global Notes will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of Certificated Notes (as defined below).

In addition, transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will be subject to the applicable rules and procedures of DTC and its direct or indirect participants (including, if applicable, those of Euroclear and Clearstream), which may change from time to time.

Initially, the Trustee will act as paying agent and registrar. The notes may be presented for registration of transfer and exchange at the offices of the registrar.

# Certain Procedures

The following description of the operations and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream are provided solely as a matter of convenience. The operations and procedures are solely within the control of the respective settlement systems and are subject to changes by them from time to time. We take no responsibility for these operations and procedures and urge investors to contact the system or their participants directly to discuss these matters.

DTC has advised us that DTC is a limited-purpose trust company created to hold securities for its participating organizations (collectively, the "Participants") and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of transactions in those securities between Participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its Participants. The Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. Access to DTC's system is also available to other entities such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Participant, either directly or indirectly (collectively, the "Indirect Participants").

Persons who are not Participants may beneficially own securities held by or on behalf of DTC only through the Participants or the Indirect Participants. The ownership interests in, and transfers of ownership interests in, each security held by or on behalf of DTC are recorded on the records of the Participants and Indirect Participants.

DTC has also advised us that, pursuant to procedures established by it, ownership of interests in the Global Notes will be shown on, and the transfer of ownership thereof will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to the Participants) or by the Participants and the Indirect Participants (with respect to other owners of beneficial interests in the Global Notes).

Investors in the Global Notes may hold their interests therein directly through DTC, if they are Participants in such system, or indirectly through

organizations (including Euroclear and Clearstream) which are Participants in such system. All interests in a Global Note, including those held through Euroclear or Clearstream, may be subject to the procedures and requirements of DTC. Those interests held through Euroclear or Clearstream may also be subject to the procedures and requirements of such systems.

18

#### **Table of Contents**

The laws of some states require that certain persons take physical delivery in definitive form of securities that they own. Consequently, the ability to transfer beneficial interests in a Global Note to such persons will be limited to that extent. Because DTC can act only on behalf of Participants, which in turn act on behalf of Indirect Participants and certain banks, the ability of a person having beneficial interests in a Global Note to pledge such interests to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interests, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate evidencing such interests.

Except as described below, owners of interests in the Global Notes will not have notes registered in their names, will not receive physical delivery of notes in certificated form and will not be considered the registered owners or "holders" thereof under the indenture governing the notes for any purpose.

Payments in respect of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on a Global Note registered in the name of DTC or its nominee will be payable to DTC in its capacity as the registered holder under the indenture governing the notes. Under the terms of the indenture governing the notes, we and the Trustee will treat the persons in whose names the notes, including the Global Notes, are registered as the owners thereof for the purpose of receiving such payments and for any and all other purposes whatsoever. Consequently, neither we, the Trustee nor any of our or the Trustee's agents has or will have any responsibility or liability for (i) any aspect of DTC's records or any Participant's or Indirect Participant's records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the Global Notes, or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of DTC's records or any Participant's or Indirect Participants's records relating to the beneficial ownership interests in the Global Notes or (ii) any other matter relating to the actions and practices of DTC or any of its Participants or Indirect Participants. DTC has advised us that its current practice, upon receipt of any payment in respect of securities such as the notes (including principal and interest), is to credit the accounts of the relevant Participants with the payment on the payment date, in amounts proportionate to their respective holdings in the principal amount of beneficial interest in the relevant security as shown on the records of DTC unless DTC has reason to believe it will not receive payment on such payment date. Payments by the Participants and the Indirect Participants to the beneficial owners of notes will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices and will be the responsibility of the Participants or the Indirect Participants in identifying the beneficial owners of the notes, and we and the Trustee may conclusively rely on and will be protected in relying on instructions from DTC or its nominee for all pu

Except for trades involving only Euroclear and Clearstream participants, interests in the Global Notes are expected to be eligible to trade in DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and secondary market trading activity in such interests will, therefore, settle in immediately available funds, subject in all cases to the rules and procedures of DTC and its Participants. See "—Same-Day Settlement and Payment." Transfers between Participants in DTC will be effected in accordance with DTC's procedures, and will be settled in same-day funds, and transfers between participants in Euroclear or Clearstream will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with their respective rules and operating procedures.

Cross-market transfers between the Participants in DTC, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream participants, on the other hand, will be effected through DTC in accordance with DTC's rules on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, by its respective depositary; however, such cross-market transactions will require delivery of instructions to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, by the counterparty in such system in accordance with the rules and procedures and within the established deadlines of such system. Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, will, if the transaction meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its respective depositary to take action to effect final settlement on its behalf by delivering or receiving interests in the relevant Global Note in DTC, and making or receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-darfunds settlement applicable to DTC. Euroclear and Clearstream participants may not deliver instructions directly to the depositaries for Euroclear or Clearstream.

DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of notes only at the direction of one or more Participants to whose account DTC has credited the interests in the Global Notes and

19

# **Table of Contents**

only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of the notes as to which such Participant or Participants has or have given such direction. However, if there is an Event of Default under the notes, DTC reserves the right to exchange the Global Notes for notes in certificated form and to distribute such notes to its Participants.

#### 424B2

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream have agreed to the foregoing procedures to facilitate transfers of interests in the Global Notes among participants in DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, they are under no obligation to perform or to continue to perform such procedures, and may discontinue such procedures at any time. Neither we nor the Trustee nor any of our or their respective agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC Euroclear or Clearstream or their respective participants or indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

#### **Exchange of Book-Entry Notes for Certificated Notes**

A Global Note is exchangeable for definitive notes in registered certificated form ("Certificated Notes") if (i) DTC notifies us that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for the Global Notes and we thereupon fail to appoint a successor depositary within 90 days or (ii) we at any time determine not to have the notes represented by the Global Notes. In addition, beneficial interests in a Global Note may be exchanged for Certificated Note upon request, but only upon prior written notice given to the Trustee by or on behalf of DTC in accordance with the indenture governing the notes, and in accordance with the certification requirements set forth in the indenture governing the notes. In all cases, Certificated Notes delivered in exchange for any Global Note or beneficial interests therein will be registered in the names, and issued in any approved denominations, requested by or on behalf of DTC (in accordance with its customary procedures).

#### Same-Day Settlement and Payment

Payments in respect of the notes represented by the Global Notes (including principal, premium, if any, and interest) will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the Global Note holder. With respect to notes in certificated form, we will make all payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the holders thereof or, if no such account is specified, by mailing a check to each such holder's registered address. The notes represented by the Global Notes are expected to trade in DTC Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and any permitted secondary market trading activity in such notes will, therefore, be required by DTC to be settled in immediately available funds. We expect that secondary trading in any Certificated Notes will also be settled in immediately available funds.

Because of time zone differences, the securities account of a Euroclear or Clearstream participant purchasing an interest in a Global Note from a Participant in DTC will be credited, and any such crediting will be reported to the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream participant, during the securities settlement processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear and Clearstream) immediately following the settlement date of DTC. DTC has advised us that cash received in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of sales of interests in a Global Note by or through a Euroclear or Clearstream participant to a Participant in DTC will be received with value on the settlement date of DTC, but will be available in the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash account only as of the business day for Euroclear or Clearstream following DTC's settlement date.

20

# **Table of Contents**

#### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell the securities to or through agents or underwriters or directly to one or more purchasers.

# By Agents

We may use agents to sell the securities. The agents will agree to use their reasonable best efforts to solicit purchases during the period of their appointment.

#### By Underwriters

We may sell the securities to underwriters. The underwriters may resell the securities in one or more transactions, including negotiated transactions at a fixed public offering price or at varying prices determined at the time of sale. The underwriters may sell the securities to or through dealers, and those dealers may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the underwriters and/or commissions from the purchasers for whom they act as agent. The obligations of the underwriters to purchase the securities will be subject to certain conditions. Each underwriter will be obligated to purchase all the securities allocated to it under the underwriting agreement. The underwriters may change any initial public offering price and any discounts, concessions or commissions they give to dealers.

# **Direct Sales**

We may sell securities directly to investors. In this case, no underwriters or agents would be involved.

As one of the means of direct issuance of securities, we may utilize the services of any available electronic auction system to conduct an electronic "dutch auction" of the offered securities among potential purchasers who are eligible to participate in the auction of those offered securities, if so describe in the prospectus supplement or pricing supplement.

#### **General Information**

Any underwriters or agents will be identified and their compensation described in a prospectus supplement.

We may have agreements with the underwriters, dealers and agents to indemnify them against certain civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act or to contribute to payments they may be required to make.

Underwriters, dealers and agents may engage in transactions with, or perform services for, us or our subsidiaries in the ordinary course of their business.

21

#### **Table of Contents**

#### VALIDITY OF SECURITIES

The validity of the securities in respect of which this prospectus is being delivered will be passed on for us by Ryan J. Rettmann, Esq., Associate General Counsel, Corporate Treasury of Ally. Mr. Rettmann owns shares of Ally common stock.

#### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements of Ally, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, incorporated in this prospectus by reference from the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 20, 2019, and the effectiveness of Ally's internal control over financial reporting, have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their reports, which are incorporated herein by reference from the aforementioned Form 10-K. Such consolidated financial statements have been so incorporated in reliance upon the reports of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

22

#### **Table of Contents**

